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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / LETTER FROM CEO AND CHAIRMAN

This year, Bulk achieved several milestones. We took on 
larger, more complex projects, welcomed new customers, 
secured funding for growth, and strengthened our team.
We made the strategic decision to separate Industrial 
Real Estate and Digital Infrastructure (Data Centers and 
Fiber Networks) into two operating companies. This move 
enhanced our focus, allowing each company to specialize 
and maximize growth in the booming data center market. 
Our scalable platform has proven resilient, supporting our 
ability to meet rising demand for large-scale data center 
capabilities. We improved our setup for infrastructure 
projects and brought in industry experts to strengthen our 
team.

In the middle of the year, we secured a €350 million equity 
investment from our partner BGO. This funding reflects 
confidence in our vision and provides resources to expand 
capacity and meet the growing large-scale customer 
demands.

Delivering according to plan
Sustainability remains at the core of our business, as 
we continue to pursue initiatives like heat re-use, grid 
development, and renewable energy sourcing with our 
partners.

Our progress would not have been possible without the 
dedication of our team, whose commitment ensures Bulk is 
well-prepared to succeed in a competitive market.

I’m proud of what we’ve delivered and excited about the 
ambitions we’ve set for the future. We are cementing our 
position as a leading Nordic infrastructure company and 
building for the long term.

Thank you for your trust and support as we move forward.

Jon Gravråk
CEO

Peder Nærbø
Founder and Executive Chair

Jon Gravråk. Foto: Stig Jarnes

Peder Nærbø. Foto: Stig Jarnes

Oslo, March 27, 2025 
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / GROUP PRESENTATION

Group presentation

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS is a subsidiary of Bulk 
Infrastructure Holding AS and serves as the parent company 
for its industrial real estate and digital infrastructure busines-
ses. Bulk is a leading provider of digital infrastructure in the 
Nordics, committed to delivering sustainable solutions that 
support the transition to a digital society. 

Bulk is structured to drive growth in two distinct business 
areas:
•	 Infrastructure Digital: Consolidating Bulk Data 

Centers and Bulk Fiber Networks under a unified 
management team to focus on scaling digital solutions. 

•	 Industrial Real Estate: Operating as an independent 
business area with a dedicated governance structure, 
ensuring a targeted approach to industrial real estate 
opportunities.

The Group’s Investment criteria
•	 Sustainability: Target infrastructure opportunities that 

enable or deliver a fundamentally more sustainable 
global society.

•	 Nordics: Invest in opportunities where Bulk can 
leverage its system value, e.g. competence, track 
record, assets, properties and market position.

•	 Scalable: Invest with an industrial mindset with 
patience and focus on scalability from the start.

•	 Infrastructure: Invest in infrastructure critical for the 
global, modern society.

Sustainability framework
The framework serves as a guiding standard for project 
development and business objectives. It ensures 
that environmental, social, and governance (ESG) 
considerations are integrated into the Group’s operations, 
from initial planning to execution. 

By aligning the organizational structure with strategic 
priorities, the Group is positioned to scale its digital 
infrastructure platform effectively while maintaining a 
dedicated focus on industrial real estate opportunities.

Key figures (Consolidated)

(Figures in NOK million) 2024 2023 Change in % 

Total revenue and other income  610.7  396.8 54%
Operating profit from operations -56.5 -77.5 27%
EBITDA 1) 132.3 64.4 105%
Change in value of investment properties 177.2 -161.3 210%
Operating profit 121.0 -186.7 165%
Profit for the year -83.9 -415.8 80%

Assets 14,789.3 9,813.0 51%
- Investment property 4,742.1 4,169.1 14%
- Property, plant and equipment 5,584.8 3,210.5 74%

Equity ratio (%) 54% 41% 15%
Number of employees 100 89 12%

1)	 Operating profit from operations before depreciation, amortization and impairment.
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2024 was characterized by growth and strategic investment 
for Bulk Infrastructure’s Digital Infrastructure segment, 
reflecting strong pipeline demand across several customer 
groups. 

•	 Strong market demand: The demand for scalable 
digital infrastructure remained robust, and Bulk 
successfully capitalized on this trend. We achieved an 
all-time high backlog and signed long-term customer 
agreements set to take effect from 2025 and beyond.  

•	 Recurring revenue growth: Our signed annual 
recurring revenue (ARR) reached more than NOK 800 
million, an increase of 158% year-over-year. Growth in 
recurring revenue year-over-year of 57%.  

•	 Expanded operations and capacity: High project 
activity throughout the year was driven by significant 
investments at the N01 Datacenter Campus and the 
doubling of capacity at OS-IX. Sold capacity increased 
by 157% compared to the previous year. 

•	 Fiber system activity: Live traffic on all fiber systems 
and growing sales both for terrestrial routes within 
Norway as well as through re-sell agreements with 
EXA Infrastructure. 

•	 Future-Focused Investments: Bulk maintained a high 
investment pace in 2024, laying the groundwork for 
future growth. Bulk Infrastructure Digital invested NOK 
2.6 billon in 2024 across the company. 

•	 High project activity: Bulk’s projects generated more 
than 500.000 project hours in 2024. 

Bulk Infrastructure Digital 

Bulk has a strong platform enabling us to 
deliver digital infrastructure for the public and 
private sector across Europe and globally. Bulk 
Fiber Networks continues to be the only neutral 
fiber network company providing strategically 
diversified, sustainable connectivity into the 
Nordics. We have three strategically located 
and scalable data centers in Oslo (OS-IX), 
Kristiansand (N01 Data Center Campus) and 
Esbjerg (DK01).
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Bulk Industrial Real Estate

In a rapidly changing market, BIRE continues to deliver new 
projects and securing key contracts. As a company with 
substantial exposure to investment property, the financial 
results are influenced by the development of its fair market 
value. Although 2024 was yet another challenging year due 
to macro changes, with increasing vacancy, falling market 
rents and increased interest expenses, BIRE is pleased to 
report a significant value creation and strongly positive profit 
for the year of NOK 187 million. 

•	 High transactional activity: Throughout 2024, BIRE 
has performed six successful transactions, with a 
transaction value of 1.6 billion NOK, disposing non-
strategic assets at favorable prices. 

•	 High leasing activity: We have ensured extensions 
and new lease contracts on existing properties, with a 
value creation from signings of 230 million NOK. 

•	 Successful constructions: 32,100 sqm of new 
construction was successfully handed over to tenants.  

•	 Rigged for the future: BIRE secured a larger and 
more attractive plot bank on strategic locations, such 
as at Ausenfjell, Vestby and Eikhaugen, strengthening 
the market position and runway for years to come. 

•	 Completion of zoning processes: Completed zoning 
of phase 1 (60,000 sqm net plot) at Barntjernmoen, 
Gardermoen.

Bulk Industrial Real Estate (BIRE) aims to be 
the Nordics’ leading real estate developer of 
warehousing, logistics and industrial buildings, 
offering superior and strategic locations and 
sustainable logistics solutions. We identify 
potential sites, acquire the right permissions and 
with our in-house engineers and project leaders, we 
work closely with the customers to ensure a design 
that meets every customer’s unique requirements. 
Further, we provide effective leadership of the 
construction process up to handover and beyond.
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT 2023

Business description 
Bulk Infrastructure Group AS is a leading provider of 
sustainable digital infrastructure in the Nordics. We are an 
industrial investor, developer and operator of industrial real 
estate, data centers and dark fiber networks. We believe in 
the value creation opportunity of enabling our digital society 
to be fully sustainable. Hence our vision: Racing to bring 
sustainable infrastructure to a global audience. 
 
The Group’s business areas
Bulk Industrial Real Estate is a Nordic real estate 
developer and owner, specializing in industrial buildings, 
large modern warehouses, cross-dock terminals and 
logistics parks. We seek to be the preferred partner for 
our customers, offering prime locations, state-of-the-art 
facilities and sustainable solutions. The business area was 
established in 2006 and has demonstrated a significant 
ability to develop industrial properties for a large and 
diversified portfolio of customers. As of December 2024, 
we have completed more than 50 development projects 
since establishment, summing up to more than 550,000 
square meters of high quality, flexible and energy efficient 
facilities. We also own a considerable portfolio of yielding 
properties, and a vast plot bank, allowing us to take part in 
value creation in all phases of real estate development and 
ownership. 

Bulk Infrastructure Digital is an industrial developer and 
operator of data centers and data center services across 
the Nordics. Bulk has a portfolio of assets, capabilities and 
partners to serve any data center customer requirement 
in a fast, secure, cost-effective and sustainable way. 
We operate scalable facilities, we continue to add new 
sites to our portfolio, and we have access to strategically 
located land. We have in-house expertise in data center 
design, engineering and operations that combined with 
our industrial real estate development experience and 
dark fiber network deployments allow us to shape the full 
value chain of the data processing infrastructure. We can 
serve customers in dedicated hyperscale facilities and 

customers in need of server racks in a Colo environment. 
Bulk Fiber Networks owns and controls dark fiber 
infrastructure with the purpose of enabling the Nordics 
for large scale data processing. Our fiber infrastructure 
is modern with high capacity including both subsea and 
terrestrial systems. We offer dark fiber, tele housing and 
cable landing facilities to carriers, large-scale data center 
customers and others that want to produce bandwidth 
services on top of our infrastructure. Bulk considers itself 
an infrastructure provider within fiber, being a partner 
rather than a competitor to traditional carriers. Bulk 
has available thousands of km of dark fiber, including 
both intercontinental, North European and intra-Nordic 
infrastructure that connects main European markets as 
well as the US. We continue to explore new subsea and 
terrestrial fiber routes that could be strategic enablers for 
the data center growth in the Nordics. 

Investment criteria 
•	 Sustainability: Target opportunities that enable or 

deliver a fundamentally more sustainable global 
society 

•	 Infrastructure: Invest in infrastructure that is critical for 
the global, modern society 

•	 Long term perspective and Scalable: Ability and 
willingness to invest with an industrial mindset with 
patience and focus on scalability from the start 

•	 Nordic: Bulk Leverage the Nordic region’s favorable 
business climate, sustainable power sources and 
political stability 

The investment criteria are set to ensure a mindset and 
focus to support the Group’s long-term vision. The Group 
has a strong capital reallocation capability that makes it 
robust to fundamental changes in market dynamics. 
 
The Group’s headquarter is in the city of Oslo in Norway.

2024 in short 
Our financial results are a consolidation of different 
business models within our two Business Areas. Some 
of these business models represent financial results that 
can vary substantially from one financial reporting period 
to another despite limited variability in the underlying 
business. The primary reasons for such fluctuations are a) 
sales of Industrial Real Estate projects, and b) difference 
between timing of cash flow and revenue recognition 
for customer contracts within Fiber Networks in IFRS 
reports, due to the business model of selling Indefeasible 
Rights of Use (IRU). Please also see note 2. However, 
as our projects are finalized, and the volume of customer 
contracts grows, the underlying recurring revenue is 
increasing at a steady pace. The effect of one-offs as 
mentioned above, will have less impact on our financials as 
the overall revenue increase.

Total revenues for the Group in total were NOK 610.7 
million compared to NOK 396.7 million last year.

Industrial Real Estate: The Group signed five contracts on 
existing properties in 2024, of which three were renewals or 
extensions for existing tenants, and the other two were with 
new tenants. The signing of these contracts allowed for a 
significant value creation, despite the challenging macro 
conditions. Furthermore, six successful transactions were 
executed, disposing unstrategic properties at favourable 
price levels. At the same time, 32,100 sqm of new 
construction was handed over to tenants. Furthermore, 
BIRE secured a larger and more attractive plot bank on 
strategic locations, such as at Ausenfjell, Vestby and 
Eikhaugen, strengthening the market position and runway 
for years to come. The company was in a dispute with the 
municipality of Køge in Denmark, regarding development of 
a plot acquired in 2020. The dispute ended in a trial, which 
Bulk won in 2024. 

Board of Directors Report 2024
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Bulk Infrastructure Digital: Recurring revenue increased 
by 113% in 2024 compared to 2023, further demonstrating 
the growth path of the Data Center business. Our portfolio 
of signed customer contracts is, when fully commenced, 
expected to generate annual recurring revenue in excess 
of NOK 800 million. Construction and preparations for 
new larger capacities at all sites are progressing well. 
The second phase of our largest deployment for one of 
Europe’s first and largest Generative AI cloud service 
providers went live in one of our facilities in N01 Campus 
in Kristiansand, Norway, during the year and this facility is 
now fully utilized. The construction of the new facility at N01 
Campus, designed to accommodate the latest generation 
of high-density GPU and CPU infrastructure, is progressing 
and the first phase will be ready for customer deployments 
in the first half of 2025. At our DK01 site in Esbjerg, 
Denmark, planning and procurement for an additional 
power connection is advancing. We are also well advanced 
in the expansion at our OS-IX data center in Oslo, Norway, 
which is expected to be completed in Q1 2025. Fiber 
Networks entered into a partnership with Exa in 2024 on 
capacity sale on the Havfrue system, with the first customer 
from the partnership live on the system in Q3 2024. 

Group financing: The unsecured bond NO0010865876 
with maturity 15 October 2024 was settled 1 July 2024. 
Bulk Infrastructure Group AS further carried out equity 
issues totaling NOK 4,010 million during 2024, following 
the equity issue in the parent company Bulk Infrastructure 
Holding.

Going concern 
In accordance with Section 3-3a of the Norwegian 
Accounting Act, we hereby confirm the assumption of going 
concern. The assumption is based on year-end 2023 status 
and The Group’s long-term strategic forecasts for the years 
ahead. The Group has a solid financial position. 

Future development 
Industrial Real Estate: Industrial Real Estate - The 
demand for new and modern industrial buildings is 
moderate, but we expect a stronger demand going forward. 
The Group signed five new lease agreements for existing 

properties in 2024. One large project will be handed over in 
the beginning of 2025. Bulk is also involved in zoning and 
development of new industrial real estate locations, both 
alone and in partnerships. Bulk Industrial Real Estates’ 
strategic landbank contains more than 900 000 sqm of 
owned land, as well as options for an additional 300 000 
sqm, all located in highly attractive logistics areas. Bulk 
has a strong ability to effectively rezone and regulate land 
in the existing land bank, as well as the ability to identify 
and obtain new land areas for the land bank. Bulk strives to 
maintain excellent communication and cooperation with the 
local communities where Bulk has activities.

Bulk Infrastructure Digital: The Data Center business 
continues to see significant interest from international 
companies and cloud providers with AI and High-
Performance Computing (HPC) needs. With the increasing 
demand for AI/HPC data processing and storage 
infrastructure, our prime focus remains on cultivating a 
strong pipeline for all our sites. We will continue to take 
a proactive approach to meet market demand, both with 
new facilities on existing sites and new sites in the Nordic 
region. The strong growth in data processing and storage 
also drives the demand for new investments in underlying 
fiber infrastructure, including both subsea and terrestrial 
systems. Bulk is well positioned as a leading provider of 
large capacity transport fiber, both traveling to and within 
the Nordics. We continue to explore opportunities for new 
fiber network developments being strategic enablers for the 
international data center market. 

There should not be placed undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements as they reflect current views 
about future events and are, by their nature, subject to 
significant risks and uncertainties because they relate to 
events and depend on circumstances that may occur in the 
future. 

Report on the annual accounts
Total income for The Group was NOK 610.7 million 
compared to NOK 396.7 million last year. The increase of 
NOK 213.9 million relates to increased recurring revenue 
within Infrastructure Digital and rental income in Industrial 

Real Estate. The Group’s operating profit from operations 
was negative with NOK 56.5 million compared to negative 
NOK 77.5 million last year. The operating profit, including 
gain and loss from sale of fiber infrastructure and other 
plant and equipment, in addition to change in value of 
investment property, was NOK 121.0 million, compared to 
negative NOK 186.7 million last year.

The Group’s annual net loss was NOK 83.9 million in 2024, 
compared to a net loss of NOK 415.8 million in 2023. 

Total current assets were NOK 3,914.5 million as of 
December 31, 2024 compared to NOK 1,347.9 million as of 
December 31, 2023. In addition, assets classified as held 
for sale amounts to NOK 4.7 million as of December 31, 
2024 compared to NOK 673.0 million last year.
 
Total cash was NOK 3,502.7 million as of December 31, 
2024 compared to NOK 1,026.4 million as of December 31, 
2023. 

Cashflow from operations was positive with NOK 148.5 
million in 2024 compared to NOK 223.7 million in 2023. The 
decrease is mainly related to a negative cashflow effect 
from change in working capital compared to a positive 
cashflow effect last year. The positive cashflow effect from 
change in working capital last year was mainly related to 
changes in trade and other payables driven by increased 
activity in our data center projects compared to prior years. 
Further, the deviation between the operating profit from 
operations and the cashflow from operations is mainly 
due to a relatively large depreciation and impairment cost. 
Cashflow from investments in 2024 is negative with NOK 
2,387.8 million, of which NOK 1,172.4 million is related to 
purchase and improvement in investment property and 
NOK 2,639.1 million is related to purchase of fixed assets, 
mainly within data center, offset by sale of investment 
property and assets classified as held for sale of NOK 
1,466.4 million. Cashflow from financing is positive with 
NOK 4,704.2 million in 2024, mainly related to proceeds 
from borrowings and issuance of bonds of NOK 2,506.9 
million and share issue of NOK 4,010.0 million, partly offset 
by finance cost of NOK 451.4 million and repayment of 
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interest-bearing debt and bond loan of 961.5 million. 
 
The Group’s total liabilities amounted to NOK 6,813.29 
million as of December 31, 2024, compared to NOK 
5,790.6 million as of December 31, 2023. The increase 
is mainly due to increased borrowings related to ongoing 
construction projects, investment property and the bond 
tap issue during 2024. The short-term portion of borrowings 
is NOK 1,056.2 million as of December 31, 2024, a 
decrease of NOK 166.7 million compared to last year. The 
unsecured bond NO0010865876 with maturity 15 October 
2024 was settled 1 July 2024. NOK 309.8 million of the 
short-term portion of borrowings is related to construction 
loans, which will be refinanced upon finalization of the 
construction projects. The remaining loans are in the 
process of refinancing prior to maturity in 2025. The 
Group continuously monitors the Groups installments and 
expiration of the debt and prepares plans to be able to 
meet its obligations. 
 
Other financial and interest costs amounted to NOK 450.4 
million in 2024 compared to NOK 347.5 million in 2023. 
The Group monitors its financial cost and is continuously 
working on financial structure. 
 
Total assets at the end of the year amounted to NOK 
14,789.3 million compared to NOK 9,813.0 million last year. 
The equity-to-assets ratio as of December 31, 2024 was 
53.9%, an increase from 41.0% in December 31, 2023.
 
Industrial Real Estate 
Total income was NOK 242.2 million, an increase from 
NOK 215.7 last year, while operating profit from operations 
was NOK 165.8 million, compared with NOK 136.3 in 2023. 
The business area contributed with a profit for the year 
of NOK 187.3 million in 2024, compared to a loss of NOK 
198.4 million last year. The increase is mainly driven by 
increased rental income, disposal of assets at favourable 
prices and positive value change on the investment 
property portfolio. The positive value change in 2024 
is related to zoning and new signed lease agreements 
with tenants, partly offset by negative effects related to 
demanding economic times of increasing vacancy and 

falling market rents, causing yielding properties and 
development plots to decrease in value.

Bulk Infrastructure Digital 
Total income was NOK 372.7 million, an increase of 61.2% 
from last year, which was NOK 231.2 million. Operating 
profit from operations was negative with NOK 222.3 million, 
compared with negative NOK 213.7 million in 2023, which 
is due to increased cost of sales and other costs related to 
the growth. Net financial expenses were NOK 123.4 million, 
compared to NOK 85.0 million last year. The business area 
contributed with a negative profit for the year of NOK 271.2 
million in 2024, compared to NOK 217.4 million last year. 
 
The Group’s financial position is strong. 
 
Research and development 
The Group has invested resources and know-how into 
research and development during 2024. Our largest 
research investment relates to standardized high-capacity 
data center designs that offer low cost of ownership, strong 
operational standards, sustainable solutions and short time 
to market for development. The objective is to benefit from 
the R&D project by being the fastest provider to deliver 
high quality and large data center capacity to the Nordic 
market going forward. 
 
Financial risk 
The Group is exposed to the following types of risk: 

Liquidity risk - The Group is focusing on having 
sufficient liquidity to meet all its obligations, including the 
new investments that are ongoing. The Group intends 
to maintain a reasonable amount of liquidity to meet 
unforeseen obligations. The Group continuously monitors 
the liquidity and has a long-term liquidity forecast in place. 

Interest risk - The Group has loans with a number of 
financial institutions, all with long-term repayment plans. 
The Group is exposed to changes in NIBOR and EURIBOR 
interest rates and uses interest rate derivatives to manage 
the interest rate exposure. The distribution of fixed and 
floating interest rates was 13/87 by the end of the period. 

Credit risk - The Group’s warehouse and distribution 
properties are characterized by high standards, good 
locations, long lease agreements and reliable tenants. The 
Group’s tenants normally pay quarterly and in advance. 
The lease agreements usually require an additional form 
of collateral or security. Within Data Centers, the portfolio 
is diversified, limiting the effect of credit risk towards each 
single customer. There were no material credit losses in 
2024.

Currency Exchange risk – The Group is increasingly 
exposed to both cost and revenue in different currencies 
due to growth in international assets and customers. 
Processes and tools to manage these up and downside 
risks are being developed in line with increased exposure. 

Market risk 
The transaction market for commercial properties
The Group is experiencing uncertainty related to the 
transaction market for commercial real estate. This is 
driven by changes in fundamental macroeconomic factors, 
hereunder interest rates, consumer price index and 
yield expectations. The Group is currently set up to take 
advantage of potential investment opportunities and is 
following the market to identify these. 

Rental Market for warehouses and logistic buildings 
The Group is exposed to the risk of changes in lease and 
rental prices in the market. The Group has several long-
term lease agreements in place. The weighted average 
lease term for tenants was 7,8 years as of December 31, 
2024 compared to 8,2 years in the previous year. The lease 
agreements provide The Group with fixed and predictable 
revenues throughout the contract period. Most lease 
agreements are adjusted annually 100 % in line with the 
consumer price index. The rate of vacancy in the groups 
properties is 2,6 % as of December 31, 2024, compared to 
2,1 % as of December 31, 2023.
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Demand for data center services and Fiber networks 
The macro drivers for large scale demand for digital Nordic 
infrastructure are healthy and suggest strong market 
growth long term. The timing of such large-scale demand 
asset by asset is difficult to predict and hence exposes the 
Group to short term uncertainty on capacity development 
and utilization. Risk is managed by strong focus on our 
time to market capability that allows for better matching 
capacity build-out and verified demand as well as discipline 
in build-up of fixed cost in early stages of new asset 
operations. 

Climate-related risk 
Bulk is committed to sustainability and mitigating climate-
related risks. The company has, since 2022, conducted 
a thorough climate analysis based on the Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework. 
This analysis has identified rising temperatures and 
extreme weather events as key risks regarding physical 
assets, and an evolving landscape of legislative regulations 
at both the national and EU levels as a transitional risk that 
may affect the industry.

Bulk is actively working to be prepared for the challenges 
posed by climate change and rising temperatures. We 
have implemented robust strategies to mitigate the impact 
of extreme weather events such as downpours and 
storms, ensuring minimal disruptions to our operations. 
Our proactive approach includes strategically selecting 
locations for site development and enhancing the resilience 
of our building infrastructure. Careful assessment of 
climate risk is a key criterion in our site selection process 
to ensure robust infrastructure. Location has been one 
of the key elements in our sustainability framework from 
the beginning, of which availability of renewable energy 
and further plans for development in the area are among 
the main decision criteria. Through our comprehensive 
analysis, we have confirmed that none of our assets have 
decreased in value due to climate-related conditions, and 
their useful life remains unaffected.

The transitional risk associated with changes in land-
use regulations, such as national regulations based on 

the global biodiversity framework adopted at the UN 
Biodiversity Conference in 2022, and EU regulations, 
may impact Bulk. As a responsible developer, Bulk 
conducts thorough environmental assessments before 
implementing any measures. This includes ecological 
studies with external professionals in project planning and 
assessing the impact on land access. Moving forward, 
we will collaborate with experts in the field to develop 
methodologies for natural accounting and share best 
practices. Additionally, we will maintain continuous dialogue 
with relevant local authorities to effectively navigate these 
regulatory changes.

Working environment and personnel
Bulk had a total of 100 employees at the end of 2024. 
In addition to permanent employees, more than 100 
contractors and consultants have been performing 
services on Bulk’s behalf. Bulk is committed to a goal of 
zero harm to people, assets, and the environment. The 
cornerstone of this objective is a strong, structured, and 
companywide HSE system, setting clear standards for HSE 
management and leadership. Regular audits aim to identify 
improvements and help address potential shortcomings. 
Bulk is focused on continuous improvement and learning 
throughout the organization. The HSE culture is founded on 
the principle that HSE is a personal responsibility for every 
employee. 

Bulk had in total five lost time injuries and eight medical 
treatments with our subcontractors’ personnel. One of the 
incidents was critical and caused long term sick leave, but 
all injured personnel have recovered well and are back 
at work. Bulk is committed to a goal of zero harm to its 
employees, not just through accident prevention, but also 
through safeguarding employee’s physical and mental 
health. 
 
The company complies with Norwegian law and i.e. 
within maternity/paternity leave, sick leave and sick leave 
days for being home with children. The company gives 
the employees a leave with full pay within the absence 
categories described above. 
 

All employees are part of a Company’s insurance scheme 
in the country they are employed in. The insurance includes 
different treatments such as physiotherapy, psychologist, 
and online access to consulting with a doctor. In addition, 
Bulk offers an all-around annual health assessment to 
all employees. All employees were offered voluntary 
vaccination against the flu virus. 
 
The sick leave amounted to 2,77% of the total work force 
in 2024. The sick leave statistics are a combination of long- 
and short-term leave. 

The company had quarterly work environment committee 
meetings in 2024. The committee consisted of safety 
delegates, employee representatives as well as 
representatives of management. Bulk has two elected 
employee representatives to submit requests or grievances 
on behalf of the staff. The representatives had a quarterly 
meeting with the CEO and HR. 
 
Bulk has an all-year People Process. This entails focus on 
engagement, development and appreciation. The company 
has continued the initiative called Bulk Academy during the 
year. The academy is meant to promote internal knowledge 
sharing between coworkers through presentations. Building 
on both optional and mandatory training and strengthening 
a learning culture. Bulk has also a strong focus on 
facilitating both social and sports activities after working 
hours. The employees rated the experience and variation 
of events to 4.7 out of 5. 

The company introduced the engagement and satisfaction 
system Winningtemp in late 2021. Winningtemp is 
based on artificial intelligence in combination with 
international studies on job engagement and satisfaction. 
The employees receive every second week a short 
questionnaire that is linked to academic research based on 
categories and topics. The survey is done anonymously. 
Winningtemp has been collecting data during 2024 with 
90% survey participation among the staff. Bulk’s aim 
in introducing a system such as this is to measure and 
optimize employee experience. This enables Bulk’s 
leaders to check in with our employees across countries, 
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in different time zones, at the office or working from home. 
The overall temperature for team spirit in 2024 was 8.2 and 
committed employees was 8.1 out of 10. 
 
Bulk has established routines for notifications & deviation 
reports. All employees of Bulk have the right and a duty to 
notify, and we encourage employees to use the opportunity 
when needed. Guidelines for deviation reports are listed 
in the company’s management system. The Company has 
also an internal Hotline established on an online notification 
channel for employees that want to remain anonymous 
and / or want an independent party (KPMG) to receive their 
notice. 

Gender equality and discrimination 
Bulk is committed to equal career opportunities and work 
continuously towards a diverse and gender balanced 
workforce. The workforce consisted of 26% women and 
74% men. The company has 28% female Managers and 
2 out of 6 are female executives at C-level management. 
There is an age average of 44 across staff. Bulk will 
continue recruitment of female professionals and maintain 
a focus on the best suitable candidate for each role. This 
also relates to orientation, age, nationality, and other types 
of discriminatory factors. 

Regarding the gender distribution in the Group, with 
a predominance of men; Data centers and certain 
engineering disciplines have a shortage of female 
candidates in the job market. The company always 
encourages recruitment partners to actively seek out 
qualified female candidates, with the ambition to hire them 
if they possess the required qualifications. Bulk engages in 
dialogues with educational institutions to promote interest 
in fields historically dominated by men.

The Company is aware of the importance of equal 
opportunities relating to promotions, performance, 
development opportunities as well as compensation and 
benefits. These areas are all assessed and reviewed 
once a year. The Group has an annual process where 
each employee’s development, salary, and opportunities 
are addressed. The company has historically also had 

an annual adjustment for all employees. Employees 
on parental or other leave are always included in 
compensation adjustments that apply to the majority. 
Female employees can express interest in leadership 
positions and will be evaluated against the qualifications 
required for the position.

Environment reporting/ Preserving the 
environment 
Apart from legal obligations, our company will proactively 
protect the environment and strive to create long term 
sustainable solutions for the next generations.

Bulk was founded on the concept of making the sustainable 
and societal advantages of the Nordics available to the 
global market. We are proud of our vision: Racing to 
bring sustainable infrastructure to a global audience. We 
pursue opportunities to contribute to global sustainable 
development at scale and we use our creative power to 
develop new high quality, reliable and clean solutions. We 
respect the environment, people and society as a whole. In 
January 2022, Bulk joined UN Global Compact; the world’s 
largest voluntary corporate sustainability initiative. Bulk 
reports annually on the progress made, Communication 
on Progress, in aligning with the Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) and the ten principles for responsible 
business, integrating these into our strategy and 
operations.

Our Integrated Management System – Way We Work, is 
used to soundly manage, secure and continuously improve 
all work processes that affect Environment. Bulk has 
integrated sustainability-related risks into the company’s 
overarching risk and opportunity management process. In 
2024, we initiated the process of double materiality analysis 
in accordance with the Corporate Sustainability Reporting 
Directive (CSRD) to prepare for reporting in 2025. This will 
lead to a sustainability target setting process in 2025 for 
the material areas. New measures to mitigate the identified 
risks will be assessed and implemented. Please refer to our 
homepage, bulkinfrastructure.com, and our Environmental 
Report 2023, for more information. 

Climate impact
Bulk began collecting emissions data and performing 
climate accounting in 2020, following the Greenhouse 
Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol). The first published climate 
account was in 2022. We continuously work to improve 
data quality, reporting on scopes 1, 2, and 3, with scope 3 
being the most challenging due to estimation uncertainties.

Most of Bulk’s emissions come from our supply chain, 
reflected in scope 3. Accurate tracking and reporting of 
scope 3 emissions are crucial for reduction efforts. We 
aim to move from cost-based estimates to precise data 
from suppliers based on life cycle assessments. We have 
implemented life cycle assessments in our construction 
projects, providing better data on emissions from materials. 
However, data from many technical components is still 
lacking. We are actively working to obtain this data and 
are requesting Environmental Product Declarations 
(EPDs) from our suppliers. Category 2 Capital goods is the 
largest source of scope 3 emissions, including embodied 
emissions from manufacturing and transporting building 
materials and technical components, as well as fuel 
consumption for land preparation. 

Emission targets - In 2020 Bulk set a net-zero target by 
2050 for scopes 1, 2, and 3 emissions. We aim to reduce 
scopes 1 and 2 emissions by 50% and scope 3 emission 
intensity by 30% by 2030. As part of our double materiality 
assessment in 2024, we will review the targets set in 2020 
and establish goals for material areas, considering updated 
data on actual emissions to support future targets and 
actions. 

Energy targets - Bulk Industrial Real Estate was in 2019 
awarded Norway’s first BREEAM-NOR certification for 
industrial buildings. Bulk Industrial Real Estate has in total 
achieved seven BREEAM-NOR certificates and aim to 
certify all larger newbuild projects with grade Very Good. 
BREEAM supports solutions to reduce carbon emissions 
towards net zero, improve whole life performance, manage 
health and social impacts, boost circularity, resilience 
and biodiversity, and support disclosures and reporting. 
The Bulk Module concept is highly energy efficient, and 
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our projects achieve the highest energy classification (A). 
Bulk Industrial Real Estate aim to increase production 
of solar energy in our projects. In 2024 the solar energy 
production from our projects was about 3.7 GWh, which is 
approximately 40% of the total power usage in our portfolio.

The data center industry is energy intensive. By locating 
data centers in locations with cooler climate, Bulk reduces 
the energy needed. Bulk’s data centers have a PUE (Power 
Usage Effectiveness) below industry average and target 
design PUE of 1.2 for new data centers. Bulk is currently 
exploring various applications to re-use excess heat from 
its data center operations to nearby business. 

Please refer to our homepage, bulkinfrastructure.com, and 
our Environmental Report 2023, for more information. 

Corporate governance – risk management and 
internal control 
General 
Bulk is subject to corporate governance reporting 
requirements according to the Norwegian Accounting Act, 
section 3-3b and c. For detailed information regarding the 
Norwegian Transparency Act, please visit our homepage 
at, bulkinfrastructure.com, where the reports are published. 
The 2024 Transparency Act will be made available on our 
homepage in June 2025. 
 
Bulk’s board of directors believes that good Corporate 
Governance is a prerequisite for a sound and sustainable 
company and Bulk’s corporate governance is based on 
openness and equal treatment of shareholders. Bulk’s 
objective for Corporate Governance is accountability, 
transparency, fairness, and simplicity with the goal of 
maximizing shareholder value while creating added value 
for all in compliance with laws, regulations and ethical 
standards. 
 
Governing structures and controls help to ensure that we 
run our business in a justifiable and profitable manner 
for the benefit of employees, shareholders, partners, 
customers, and society. 
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Bulk is committed to operate in accordance with 
responsible, ethical, sustainable, and sound business 
principles, with respect for people, the environment, and 
society. The work of the board of directors is based on 
the existence of a clearly defined division of roles and 
responsibilities between the shareholders, the board of 
directors and the company’s management. Policies and 
procedures have been established to manage risks, and 
the board of directors evaluate the overall risk management 
systems on a regular basis. 
 
The board of directors ensures that Bulk has in place 
sound and appropriate internal control systems and 
systems for risk management. Having effective internal 
control systems and systems for risk management in place 
prevents the group from situations that can damage its 
reputation or financial standing. Furthermore, effective and 
proper internal control and risk management are important 
factors when building and maintaining trust, to reach the 
company’s objectives, and ultimately create value. Bulk has 
implemented an Integrated Management System that is 
proportionate to and reflects the extent and nature of Bulk’s 
activities. The Integrated Management System carries 
out processes to analyze: 1) the organizational context 
and strategic priorities; 2) the organization’s interested 
parties and their requirements; and 3) the organization’s 
risks and opportunities, including those which should be 
treated within the structure of its management system. 
Bulk is certified within several ISO standards; ISO 
9001,14001,22301 and 27001 and the main focus in 2024 
was to align our certificates to allow for a more efficient 
certification process. 
 
The internal control system also addresses the organization 
and execution of the company’s financial reporting, as well 
as covering the company’s corporate values, compliance 
with all laws and regulations that apply to the Group’s 
business activities, ethical guidelines and principles of 
corporate social responsibility. Bulk’s core values are 
clearly defined and are reflected in the Company’s Code of 
Ethics. The Code of Ethics includes ethical guidelines and 
guidelines for corporate social responsibility, hereunder 

bribery and anti-corruption, unlawful discrimination and 
human rights, health, safety, and environmental issues. 
 
The board members and the general manager have 
insurance coverage for their potential liability towards 
the company and third parties. The board considers the 
coverage to be in line with market standards.
 
Corporate governance in Bulk is subject to regular review 
and discussion by the board of directors. 

Annual review and risk management in the 
annual report 
The board of directors annually reviews the company’s 
most important areas of risk exposure and the internal 
control arrangement in place for such areas. The review 
pays attention to any material shortcomings or weaknesses 
in the company’s internal control and how risks are being 
managed. 

In the annual report, the board of directors describes 
the main features of the company’s internal control and 
risk management systems as they are connected to the 
company’s financial reporting. This covers the control 
environment in the company, risk assessment, control 
activities and information, communication and follow-up. 
The board of directors is obliged to ensure that it is updated 
on the company’s financial situation and shall continually 
evaluate whether the company’s equity and liquidity 
are adequate in relation to the risk from the company’s 
activities and take immediate action if the company’s 
equity or liquidity at any time is shown to be inadequate. 
The company’s management focuses on frequent and 
relevant reporting of both operational and financial matters 
to the board of directors, where the purpose is to ensure 
that the board of directors has sufficient information 
for decision-making and is able to respond quickly to 
changing conditions. Board meetings are held frequently, 
and management reports are provided to the board as a 
minimum on a quarterly basis. 
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The audit committee was established in 2023. The 
committee prepares matters relating to financial reporting, 
internal control and auditing for consideration by the board, 
or to carry out such tasks on behalf of the board. 

Human rights 
Our company is dedicated to protecting human rights. We 
are a committed equal opportunity employer and will abide 
by all fair labor practices. We will ensure that our activities 
do not directly or indirectly violate human rights and act in 
accordance with the Norwegian Transparency act.
 
Bulk has in 2024 followed up the required activities within 
human rights in line with our Code of Conduct. Please 
refer to our homepage bulkinfrastructure.com for more 
information. 

Donations and aid 
Our company may preserve a budget to make monetary 
donations. These donations will aim to:
 
•	 Advance the arts, education and community events 
•	 Alleviate those in need 
•	 Support initiatives related to sustainability 

Instead of giving Christmas gifts to employees Bulk made 
donations to Doctors without borders and the Association 
for children with cancer. The holiday initiative was based on 
a collective vote for contributions to a worthy cause. 

Supporting the community 
Our company may initiate and support community 
investment and educational programs. It can provide 
support to nonprofit organizations or movements to 
promote cultural and economic development of global and 
local communities. 
 

Subsequent events 
There are no material subsequent events after the 
reporting period. 
 
Profit/Loss for the year and allocation of funds 
The Board of Directors proposes that the profit for the 
year for Bulk Infrastructure Group AS amounting to NOK 
100,710,653 will be allocated as follows; 

Other equity NOK 100,710,653
Total brought forward NOK 100,710,653

Oslo, March 27, 2025 
The board of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS

Peder Nærbø
Executive Chair
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Consolidated statement of total comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2024

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Notes 2024 2023

Rental income 5,6  262,697  242,241 
Revenue from sales 5  271,580  106,484 
Other revenue 5  76,397  48,025 
Total revenue and other income  610,674  396,749 

Cost of sales 5  147,566  99,944 
Other cost 7,8,9  519,604  374,259 
Total expenses  667,170  474,203 

Operating profit from operations*  -56,495  -77,454 

Gain from sale of fiber infrastructure and other property, plant 
and equipment

5  378  52,048 

Change in value of investment properties 5,10  177,150  -161,301 

Operating profit  121,033  -186,707 

Share of profit/loss(-) of investments accounted for using  
the equity method

11  11,813  -39,051 

Finance income 12  132,982  98,321 
Finance cost 12  460,889  359,413 
Change in value of financial instruments 12  8,128  1,209 
Net financial items  -307,965  -298,935 

Profit before income tax  -186,932  -485,642 
Income tax expense 13  -103,044  -69,882 
Profit for the year  -83,888  -415,760 

Attributable to:
Shareholders in the parent Company  -92,701  -405,965 
Non-controlling interests  8,813  -9,795 

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Notes 2024 2023

Other comprehensive income 
Currency translation difference  3,266  10,962 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  3,266  10,962 

Total comprehensive income  -80,622  -404,797 

Attributable to:
Shareholders in the parent Company  -89,435  -395,003 
Non-controlling interests  8,813  -9,795 

Earnings per share basic and diluted (NOK) 14  -0.21  -1.11 

*The Group has decided to present Operating profit from operations, related to revenue and expenses from day-
to-day operation, separate from gain and loss from sale of assets/ investment properties and change in value of 
investment properties (change in value of investment properties include changes in fair value and gains and losses 
on sale of investment properties). These profits are now separated in the profit and loss statement but are still 
included in operating profit. Comparable figures have been restated.
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Figures in NOK ‘000 Notes 2024 2023

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
Ordinary shares  5,060  3,726 
Share premium  7,850,112  3,841,445 
Reserves  35,916  32,649 
Retained earnings  35,783  104,213 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 14  7,926,871  3,982,034 
Non-controlling interests  49,187  40,284 
Total equity  7,976,058  4,022,319 

Non-current liabilities
Bond loan 20,27,28,29,30  2,510,301  1,722,463 
Borrowings 20,27,28,29,30  2,556,078  1,623,896 
Derivative financial instruments 20,21  1,819  3,815 
Lease liabilities 18  53,447  51,551 
Other long-term liabilities 31  84,617  57,369 
Deferred tax liabilities 13  40,108  143,172 
Total non-current liabilities  5,246,370  3,602,265 

Current liabilities
Trade payables 20  213,756  182,391 
Short-term portion of borrowings 20,27,28,29,30  1,056,177  1,327,914 
Short-term portion of derivatives 20,21  -  520 
Short-term portion of lease liabilities 18  10,259  11,512 
Other payables 20,31  286,689  294,446 
Total current liabilities  1,566,882  1,816,782 

Liabilities directly associated with the assets held for sale 10,26 -  371,599 

Total liabilities  6,813,252  5,790,646 

Total equity and liabilities  14,789,310  9,812,965 

Figures in NOK ‘000 Notes 2024 2023

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets and goodwill 15,16  51,686  28,849 
Investment property 10  4,742,092  4,169,120 
Property, plant & equipment 17  5,584,808  3,210,473 
Right-of-use assets 18  317,502  213,727 
Investment in associated companies 11,19  96,773  83,616 
Derivative financial instruments 20,21  30,419  24,808 
Other receivables 20,22  46,876  60,161 
Investment in shares 20  0  1,249 
Total non-current assets  10,870,156  7,792,003 

Current assets
Inventories 23  13,913  19,774 
Trade and other receivables 20,24  397,811  301,777 
Cash and cash equivalents 20,25  3,502,749  1,026,391 
Total current assets  3,914,473  1,347,942 

Assets classified as held for sale 10,26  4,680  673,020 

Total assets  14,789,310  9,812,965 

Oslo, March 27, 2025 
The board of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS

Peder Nærbø
Executive Chair
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Paid in equity

(Figures in NOK ‘000)
Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Exchange differences 
on translation on 

foreign operations
Retained 
earnings

Equity attributable 
to owners of the 

Company
Non-controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

01.01.2024 3,726 3,841,445 32,649 104,213  3,982,034  40,284 4,022,319
Profit for the period  -  -  -  -92,701  -92,701  8,813  -83,888 
Other comprehensive income - currency  -  -  3,266  -  3,266  -  3,266 
Total comprehensive income for the period  -  -  3,266  -92,701  -89,435  8,813  -80,622 

Share issue  1,334  4,008,666  -  -  4,010,000  -  4,010,000 
Share -based payments  -  -  -  25,963  25,963  -  25,963 
Other changes  -  -  -  -1,692  -1,692  90  -1,602 
31.12.2024  5,060  7,850,112  35,916  35,783  7,926,871  49,187  7,976,058 

01.01.2023 3,264 2,918,911  21,687 502,358  3,446,219  50,079 3,496,299
Profit for the period - - - -405,965  -405,965  -9,795 -415,760
Other comprehensive income - currency - - 10,962 -  10,962 - 10,962
Total comprehensive income for the period  -  -  10,962  -405,965  -395,003  -9,795  -404,798 

Share issue 463 922,534 - -  922,997 922,997
Share -based payments - - - 8,947  8,947 8,947
Changes in deferred tax estimates - - - -459  -459 -459
Other changes - - - -666  -666 -666
31.12.2023 3,726 3,841,445 32,649 104,213  3,982,034  40,284 4,022,319
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Consolidated statement of cashflows

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Note 2024 2023

Cash flow from operations
Profit before income taxes  -186,932 -485,642
Adjust for:
Depreciation and impairment 16,17  188,724 141,821
Change in value of investment properties 10  -177,150  161,301 
Share of profit/loss(-) of investments accounted for using 
the equity method

11  -11,813 39,051

Finance income 12  -132,982 -98,321
Finance costs 12  460,889 359,413
Change in value of financial instruments 12  -8,128 -1,209
Gain from sale of fiber infrastructure and other property, 
plant and equipment

17  -378  -52,048 

Share-based payments 9  25,963 -
Cashflow before change in working capital  158,192  64,366 

Change in working capital
Trade and other receivables 20  -69,925  -78,592 
Trade and other payables 20  51,888  249,245 
Change in inventories  5,907  -11,311 
Currency effects on working capital  2,437  - 
Net cash flow from operations (A)  148,499  223,708 

Cash flow from investments
Investment in intangible assets 16  -27,116  - 
Acquisition and improvements of investments property 10  -1,172,441  -338,495 
Sale of investment property, net of cash sold 
(deconsolidation of subsidiary)

10  801,329  15,270 

Improvements of assets classified as held for sale 10,26  -12,133  - 
Sale of assets classified as held for sale, net of cash sold 
(deconsolidation of subsidiary)

10,26  611,707  - 

Sale of assets classified as held for sale 10,26  53,400  - 
Investments in property, plant and equipment 17  -2,639,147  -1,056,732 
Sale of property, plant and equipment 17  1,670  200,400 
Purchase or disposal of Right-of-use assets 18  -  11,714 
Dividend received  1,075  2,100 
Purchase of shares  1,249  - 
Net change in non-current receivables  -7,382  - 
Net cash flow from investments (B)  -2,387,788  -1,165,743 

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Note 2024 2023

Cash flow from financing
Proceeds from issuance of bond loans, net of transaction 
expenses

28,29,30  783,750  1,236,561 

Repayment of bond loans 28,29,30  -465,000  - 
Purchase of own bonds 28,29,30  -100,000  -413,000 
Proceeds from issuance of interest-bearing debt 28,29,30  1,723,134  366,180 
Repayment of interest-bearing debt 28,29,30  -496,549  -59,588 
Change in liabilities directly associated with the assets held 
for sale

10,26  -385,938  - 

Change in other long-term liabilities 20,27,31  -  -4,117 
Paid interest expense and other financial expenses 12  -451,389  -343,107 
Interest income received and other financial income 12  100,481  38,986 
Interest paid on lease liabilities 18  -4,076  -3,911 
Principal paid on lease liabilities 18  -10,232  -5,979 
Share issue 14  4,010,000  922,997 
Share-based payments 9  -  8,947 
Net cash flow from financing (C)  4,704,182  1,743,968 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  2,464,893  801,932 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  1,026,391 224,459
Change in currency exchange rates  11,466 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  3,502,749  1,026,391 

Restricted funds 25  8,257 4,962
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Note 1	 Corporate information

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS is a limited liability company registered in Norway. The head office of 
the company is in Karenslyst Allé 53, Oslo, Norway. The Company is the subsidiary of the holding 
company Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS. The Company is the parent company of Bulk Industrial Real 
Estate AS, Bulk Data Centers AS and Bulk Fiber Networks AS. The ultimate parent of the Group is 
Bulk Industrier AS.

Bulk Industrial Real Estate is a Nordic real estate developer, specializing in industrial buildings, large 
modern warehouses, cross-dock terminals and logistics parks. The business area was established in 
2006 and has already developed and delivered to customers more than 500,000 m² of high quality, 
flexible and energy efficient facilities. Bulk Industrial Real Estate AS and its subsidiaries are reported 
as the segment Industrial Real Estate. 

Bulk Data Centers is an industrial developer and operator of data centers and data center services 
across the Nordics. Bulk Data Centers has a portfolio of assets, capabilities and partners to serve 
any data center customer requirement in a fast, secure, cost efficient and sustainable way. Bulk Data 
Centers AS and its subsidiaries are included in the segment Bulk Infrastructure Digital. 

Bulk Fiber Networks owns and controls dark fiber infrastructure with the purpose of enabling the 
Nordics for large scale data processing. The fiber infrastructure is modern with high capacity including 
both subsea and terrestrial systems. Bulk Fiber Networks offer dark fiber to carriers, large scale data 
center customers and others that want to produce bandwidth services. Bulk Fiber Networks AS and its 
subsidiaries are included in the segment Bulk Infrastructure Digital. 

The Board of Directors authorized these financial statements for issue on March 27, 2025.

Note 2	 Accounting principles

2.1 	 Basis of preparation
2.2 	 Changes in accounting policies
2.3 	 Consolidation
2.4 	 Foreign currency translation
2.5 	 Investment property
2.6 	 Property, plant and equipment
2.7 	 Lease agreements
2.8 	 Goodwill
2.9 	 Impairment of non-financial assets
2.10 	 Financial assets
2.11 	 Borrowing costs
2.12 	 Inventory
2.13 	 Share capital
2.14 	 Current and deferred income tax
2.15 	 Provisions
2.16 	 Revenue recognition
2.17 	 Property-related expenses and other costs
2.18 	 Interest income
2.19 	 Share-based payments
2.20 	 Assets classified as held for sale

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statement has been prepared in accordance with IFRS® Accounting 
Standards as adopted by EU and required for the financial year beginning January 1, 2024 or later, as 
well as Norwegian disclosure requirements pursuant to the Accounting Act per 31 December 2024.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention, with the following exceptions:

•	 Investment properties are recognized at their fair value and changes in fair value are recognized as 
fair value adjustment in the income statement 

•	 Financial derivatives are recognized at their fair value over the profit and loss statement

The consolidated accounts have been prepared with consistent accounting principles for similar 
transactions and events. The corresponding figures have been prepared on the basis of the same 
accounting principles.
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Associates
An associate is defined as a company over which the Group has significant influence but which is not a 
subsidiary or a joint arrangement (normally 20-50% of shares or votes). Investments in associates are 
accounted for using the equity method. This means that the investments are initially recorded at cost 
and subsequently the carrying amount is adjusted to reflect the Group’s share of the investee’s profit 
or loss after the acquisition date. The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill identified on 
acquisition. The Group currently has three associated companies. Please refer to note 11 for further 
details.

Elimination of transactions
Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated. 

2.4 Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the entities´ functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the date of each transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 
are translated to the entities functional currency using the exchange rates on the balance sheet date. 
Foreign currency exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and 
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies than the entities’ 
functional currency are recognised in the statement of profit and loss as foreign exchange gains/
losses. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Norwegian Kroner (“NOK”), which is the 
Group’s presentation currency. This is also the functional currency of the parent company and most of 
the Group’s subsidiaries. For subsidiaries with other functional currency than NOK, translation into the 
Group’s presentation currency is as follows: 
•	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance sheet 
•	 Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates
•	 All resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income

The following exchange rates have been applied in translating the accounts of subsidiaries with 
functional currency other than NOK

Average rate
2024

Average rate 
2023

Rate 
Dec, 31 2024

Rate 
Dec, 31 2023

DKK/NOK 1.5585 1.5327 1.5816 1.5082
GBP/NOK 13.7351 13.1348 14.2249 12.9342
EUR/NOK 11.6248 11.4206 11.7950 11.2405

2.2 Changes in accounting policies
New and amended standards effective from 2024 
ISome amendments to standards and interpretations have become effective in 2024. These changes 
did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. Standards, amendments to 
standards and interpretations that have been published, but not yet effective, are not expected to have 
a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

2.3 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the 
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Control is normally obtained when the 
Group has ownership of at least 51 %. As of December 31, 2024, the Group has one subsidiary in the 
Real Estate segment with 51 % direct ownership and one with 51% indirect ownership, of which both 
are considered to be controlled by the Group.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries – business combinations
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for acquisitions of subsidiaries or other
entities. The assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination are recognized at their fair value 
on the acquisition date. Deferred tax is recognized based on the difference between the fair value and 
the tax bases of the assets and liabilities. 

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the consideration over the net fair value of identifiable assets, 
liabilities, and contingent liabilities acquired, as well as the fair value of any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree. 

Acquisition of subsidiaries not viewed as business combinations
Acquisitions of entities in which the activities do not constitute a business, are accounted for as a 
purchase of assets in accordance with IFRS 3. The acquisition cost is allocated to the acquired assets, 
and no goodwill is calculated. Additionally, no deferred tax is recognized for temporary differences 
arising at initial recognition, as per IAS 12.15. The Group’s business regularly includes acquisitions, 
particularly within the Industrial Real Estate segment. In 2024, the Group completed two acquisitions 
that was accounted for as the purchase of a single asset. 

Joint arrangements
A joint arrangement involves two or more parties having joint control. Joint arrangements are classified 
as either joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the parties 
involved:

•	 Joint operations: In joint operations, two or more organizations contribute to a specific project, 
each operating independently. An agreement typically outlines the allocation of resources and 
responsibilities. The parties have joint control of the assets and obligations for the liabilities related 
to the arrangement. The Group has one joint operation related to the transatlantic subsea system, 
Havfrue. The Group recognizes its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of the joint 
operation according to the Havfrue project agreement, in line with IFRS 11.

•	 Joint ventures: Joint ventures are those arrangements where the Group has joint control and 
rights to net assets. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under this method, 
the investment is initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is adjusted to reflect the 
Group’s share of the investee’s profit or loss after the acquisition date.
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2.5 Investment property
Property held with the purpose of achieving rental income, increase in value, or both, is classified as 
investment property. Investment property also include property under development for future use as 
investment property. 

Owned investment property is initially measured at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial 
measurement. Cost comprises of the purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure, 
including professional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes and other transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, the investment property is measured at fair value. The Group obtain valuations 
on investment property semi-annually from an external party. The valuations related to projects under 
construction are presented at discounted fair value of the property. The valuation do not account 
for costs related to finalization of the projects. As such, management adjusts the valuation on these 
projects with remaining construction cost. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are 
recognized over profit and loss in the period they arise. Management conducts internal valuation based 
on input from projects on a quarterly basis. 

Subsequent costs relating to investment property are included in the carrying amount if it is probable 
that they will result in future economic benefits for the investment property and the costs can be 
measured reliably. Expenses relating to operations and maintenance of the investment property are 
recognized in profit and loss in the financial period in which they are incurred.

Investment properties are derecognized when they are sold or are permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefit is expected if disposed of. All gains or losses relating to sales or 
disposal are recognized in profit and loss. The Group sold nine properties in 2024, please refer to note 
10 for more information. 

Changes in fair value, including gains and losses on sale of investment properties, are recognized as 
“Change in value of investment properties”.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment
Properties that do not qualify as investment property are presented as property, plant and equipment. 
This is mostly related to technical infrastructure of data centers. Property, plant and equipment also 
include data center buildings, fiber infrastructure, upgrades of rented office premises, electric cars, 
fixtures and office furniture, and network components. All property, plant and equipment are recognized 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the item. 

Subsequent costs are included in the assets carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be reliable measured. All other repairs and maintenance are 
recognized in profit and loss as incurred.

Land is not depreciated. However, ground works that are subject to physical deterioration will be 
depreciated. Depreciation of assets under construction does not commence until they are complete 
and available for use. All other items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their 
expected useful economic lives. The expected useful economic life currently ranges from 4 – 50 years, 
of which the highest expected life relates to data center buildings and fiber infrastructure. 

2.7 Lease agreements
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. It is assessed if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. Leased assets with a remaining lease period of less than 12 months at inception are 
excluded from lease accounting. Further, leases of assets of a low value (small asset leases), mainly 
items as PCs, office equipment and similar, are excluded from lease accounting.

(a) When a Group company is the lessee
Upon lease commencement the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-
of-use asset is measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount 
of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of the lease payments payable over the 
lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease if that can be readily determined. If that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate. Variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate are included in the initial measurement of the lease liability and are 
initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date. Amounts expected to be 
payable by the Group under residual value guarantees are also included. Variable lease payments that 
are not included in the measurement of the lease liability are recognized in profit or loss in the period in 
which the event or condition that triggers payment occurs.

The majority of leases related to the terrestrial fiber in the Group have been paid up-front. As such, 
there is no lease liability related to the right-of-use asset. 

(b) When a Group company is the lessor
At the inception of a lease agreement the Group assesses whether the agreement should be classified 
as an operating lease or a finance lease. Leases in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the lessee are classified as finance leases. All other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

Upon lease commencement, the Group recognizes assets held under a finance lease as a receivable 
at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Over the lease term, interest on the net 
investment is recognized in the profit or loss as finance lease revenue in a way that produces a 
constant rate of return on the investment.

The Group recognizes operating lease payments as income on a straight-line basis or, if more 
representative of the pattern in which benefit from use of the underlying asset is diminished, another 
systematic basis.

Fiber infrastructure leases
The Group has classified it’s long-term fiber IRUs (Indefeasible right of use) as finance leases for the 
following reasons:
•	 The leases transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying 

fiber assets.
•	 The lease terms are for the major part of the economic life of the fiber assets.

Long-term IRUs are typically between 20 and 40 years depending on if the fiber in question is subsea 
or terrestrial, of which the economic life of terrestrial fiber is longer. 

The Group classifies its short-term fiber IRUs as operating leases, as none of the above criteria for 
classification as financial lease are met for these IRUs. 
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Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the income statement 
over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to 
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is 
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or 
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity services and 
amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Offsetting financial assets and obligations
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled 
or expires. This normally happens when the Group pays the financial liability.

2.11 Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for 
their intended use or sale, are included in the cost of those assets.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization. 

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.12 Inventory
Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labor and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed 
overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. 

2.13 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.8 Goodwill
Goodwill is measured at acquisition cost less any accumulated impairment loss. 
As of December 31, 2024, the goodwill in the Group is related to an acquisition in 2022. Please refer to 
note 15 for further information. 

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Goodwill and intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life or intangible assets not ready to use are also tested annually for impairment.

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). An impairment loss is recognized for the 
amount by which the asset’s/CGU’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal and value in use. Prior impairments 
of non-financial assets other than goodwill, are reviewed for possible reversal at each reporting date.

2.10 Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. These assets are recognised initially at cost including any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Loans and receivables are 
classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as 
non-current.

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit loss (ECLs) for all loans and receivables. 
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the 
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation 
of the original effective interest rate. For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a 
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash deposits on call with financial institutions and 
other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturity of less than three months.

Financial derivatives
The Group uses financial derivative instruments to hedge its exposure to interest-rate risk. However, 
the Group does not apply hedge accounting. Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; 
attributable transaction costs are recognised in the statement of profit and loss as they incur. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
All of the Group’s financial liabilities, except for derivatives, are classified as financial liabilities at 
amortized cost.

Trade payables and other short-term payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due 
within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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2.16 Revenue recognition
The Group has three different types of revenue; rental income, revenue from sales and other revenue. 
Rental income and other revenue is present in both business segments, while revenue from sales is 
related to the segment Bulk Infrastructure Digital. 

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property is accounted for on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognized in the 
period the associated cost is incurred. Income is presented gross in the statement of profit & loss. 

Revenue from sale of dark fiber (IRUs) is recognized based on the classification of individual contracts 
as either financial or operating leases, in accordance with IFRS 16. The majority of IRU contracts are 
short-term and classified as operating lease. The Group recognizes lease payments on a straight-line 
basis as rental income over the period of the IRU. 

Rental income from Data Centers is related to a couple of tenants who do not receive data center 
services, but only rent the space for their own operations. These tenants were present before Bulk 
started the data center business and the contracts have been carried forward based on the historical 
lease terms. 

Revenue from sales
Revenue from sales includes income from data center services and from fiber telehousing services.

Revenue from data center services consists of both the sale of services and related goods. These 
services include cooling, security, and fiber access for customers’ data servers. Services are billed 
either monthly or quarterly in advance, depending on the terms of the contract, with revenue accrued 
and recognized each month. Electricity costs are invoiced monthly and settled at year-end based on 
an annual calculation of actual consumption. Revenue is recognized when control of the goods or 
services is transferred to the customer. As the data center services are received and consumed by 
the customer simultaneously, revenue is recognized over time in line with the performance obligations 
satisfied over time. Additionally, the Group offers a “smart hands” service, where data center personnel 
perform immediate physical adjustments or maintenance on servers as requested by the customer. 
This service is invoiced and recognized at the point of delivery.

Revenue from the sale of fiber telehousing services is recognized similarly to data center services, 
as described above. Telehouses serve as small data centers that connect to the terrestrial fiber 
infrastructure.

The Group satisfies its obligations in contracts with customers regarding sale of telehousing services 
or data center services upon delivery, or as services are rendered. Payment terms for revenue from 
sales are typically 30 days.

Other revenue
Other revenue primarily includes business management services for external parties and recharges of 
common costs, such as electricity to data center customers. This revenue is recognized at the point in 
time when shared costs are invoiced to tenants.

2.14 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and changes in deferred tax. Tax expense is 
recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The current income tax expense is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate 
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes 
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
Deferred tax is not recognized if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction 
other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
tax asset is realized, or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary difference is controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

2.15 Provisions
Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognized when 
the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized 
as interest expense.
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Note 3	 Accounting estimates and significant judgements

Preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of guidelines and principles, as well as the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates
Fair value of investment property
Investment property is recognized at fair value at year-end. As the Group collects external valuations 
semi-annually for all investment property, the estimate only relates to the adjustment of the 
external valuation. These adjustments are made based on the remaining construction cost and risk 
considerations. Risk considerations are a discussion between management and engineers responsible 
for the respective investment. See also note 10.

Impairment considerations regarding property, plant and equipment
At the end of each reporting period the Group will assess whether there is any indication of impairment. 
Identification of impairment indicators is based on an assessment of development in market rates, 
earnings for the data centers and sale of fiber networks, opex, operating profit, technological 
development, change in regulations, interest rates and discount rates. If any indication exist, the 
Group will estimate the recoverable amount of the asset. Recoverable amount is set as the highest of 
fair value less cost to sell and value in use. If the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable 
amount, an impairment is recognized. Impairments are reversed in a later period if the recoverable 
amount exceeds carrying amount. As per year end 2024 impairment has been carried out for a few 
data center projects of minor value. Please refer to note 17.

Judgements
Joint arrangements related to the Havfrue cable system
The Group has conducted significant judgements related to the accounting treatment of the Havfrue 
cable system. The Havfrue cable system connects the US to Norway, Denmark and Ireland. The 
project is regulated through a Joint Build Agreement (JBA) in a consortium, which involves four parties, 
including Bulk. The agreement states the ownership and interests in the system, of which each party 
will own and have exclusive use of at least one fiber pair in the cable system. Decisions about relevant 
activities concerning the cables system, require unanimous approval by the parties. 

Following the outline of the agreement, management has assessed the JBA to qualify as a joint 
arrangement in line with IFRS 11. Further, due to the contractual agreement of joint control, the joint 
arrangement is considered a joint operation. As such, the assets and liabilities related to Bulk’s interest 
in the cables system is recognised in the balance sheet, along with associated revenue and cost.

Associated company
Bulk has a 25 % ownership in the company Berger Terminal Holding II AS. If an entity holds, directly 
or indirectly, 20 % or more of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the entity has 
significant influence. In addition, Bulk holds the position for the Executive Chair of the Board. As such, 
the investment is accounted for using the equity method in line with IAS 28. 

2.17 Property-related expenses and other costs
Costs directly related to the operation of existing properties are recognized as property-related 
expenses, other costs are included as administration costs. Costs are recognized as incurred.

Cost of sales is recognized as an expense in the period in which the related revenue is recognized. 

2.18 Interest income
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. 

2.19 Share-based payments
The Group currently has two arrangements with share-based payments; a key employee share option 
plan, and a management incentive program. The share-based payments are treated in line with 
IFRS 2. 

The key employee share option includes synthetic options, hence the employee receives no ownership 
rights. Under the plan, participants are granted options which vest by 1/3 each year over a period of 
three years. The options may be realized in the period 01.01.2025 to 01.09.2026. 

The management incentive program is established through the company Klub Bulk AS. Under the 
program, participants are granted A- and B-shares, of which the B-shares are preference shares. A 
portion of the A-shares has an option element and are assessed as options when accounted for in the 
financial statements. The rights of the shares are the same, except that the B-shares have a right to an 
annual return equal to 8% of the face value of the shares. The shares granted give voting rights, but carry 
no dividend. The program runs over a period of 60 to 80 months from the effective date of the program. 

The fair value of the shares is calculated using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution (where material), the 
share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield, the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option, and the correlations and volatilities of the 
peer group companies. The estimated value is distributed as payroll expense over the period. The 
associated liability is booked as long-term debt and will be reclassified to short-term debt upon one 
year of potential exercise. The calculation of the fair value is assessed on an annual basis and the 
annual cost is adjusted accordingly.

2.20 Assets classified as held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly 
probable. The assets are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated while they are classified as held for sale. 
The asset classified as held for sale is presented separately from other assets in the statement of 
financial position. Any liabilities directly associated to the asset classified as held for sale is presented 
separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet. 
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Note 4	 Climate-related risk

In 2020 the Group set ambitious emission targets to combat climate change, including a goal to 
achieve net-zero emissions across all scopes (1, 2, and 3) by 2050. Additionally, the Group aimed to 
reduce scope 1 and 2 emissions by 50 per cent and decrease the emission intensity by 30 per cent for 
scope 3 by 2030. In 2024 the Group has started to conduct a double materiality assessment and will 
as part of this process review the targets set in 2020, considering updated data on actual emissions to 
support future targets and actions.

Strategy
Transitional risks, such as energy and land use regulations, are the short- and medium-term climate-
related risks that are identified to have the greatest impact on the Group. Location has been one of 
the key elements in the Group’s sustainability framework from the beginning, of which availability of 
renewable energy and further plans for development in the area are among the main decision criteria’s.  

As climate changes and temperatures continue to rise, the Group’s assets may face increased 
challenges in maintaining optimal operational conditions. Extreme weather events such as downpours 
and storms can lead to power outages, flooding, and other disruptions to operations. The Group has 
implemented robust strategies to mitigate the impact of extreme weather events such as downpours 
and storms, ensuring minimal disruptions to operations. This proactive approach includes strategically 
selecting locations for site development and enhancing the resilience of the building infrastructure.

Changes in regulations on land-use will be implemented in the short- and medium-term, such as 
national regulations based on the global biodiversity framework, adopted at the UN Biodiversity 
Conference in 2022, and EU-regulations. This may be a risk for the company’s project planning and 
may have an impact on access to plots of land. Mitigation measures are already in place, such as 
internal and external professionals on local regulations and biodiversity in the project planning teams. 
The risk will be mitigated through a continuous dialog with relevant local authorities.

These identified risks will be included in the ongoing process for developing sustainability targets 
and initiatives for the Group. New measures to mitigate the identified risks will be assessed and 
implemented. With 2022 as a baseline year, emission targets and actions will be implemented in order 
to support Bulk’s plan to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in line with the Science Based Targets 
initiative. The targets will be established based on the 2022 climate account.

Sustainability reporting
The Group started to collect data on emissions and perform climate accounting in 2020, according to 
the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol). However, 2022 was the first year where the climate 
account was published. The Group continuously work to improve data quality, reporting on scopes 1, 2, 
and 3, with scope 3 being the most challenging due to estimation uncertainties.

Bulk has conducted a thorough analysis of climate-related risks in accordance with the guidelines set 
forth by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD). Please refer to the Group’s 
webpage for more details on climate risk and the Group’s climate accounts.
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Note 5	 Segment information

Bulk Infrastructure Group defines operating segments based on the Group’s internal reporting structure and how management measures and monitors performance. During 2024 the Group revised its segment 
reporting and now consider Data Centers and Fiber Networks as one reportable segment. The Group now reports two segments; Industrial Real Estate and Bulk Infrastructure Digital. The Group has also decided 
to present Operating profit from operations, related to revenue and expenses from day-to-day operation, separate from gain and loss from sale of assets/ investment properties and fair value adjustment from 
investment properties. These profits are now separated in the profit and loss statement but are included in operating profit. Comparable figures have been restated.

Operating activities are based in Norway, Denmark and the United Kingdom.

Industrial Real Estate
Bulk Infrastructure 

Digital Eliminated Total
(Figures in NOK '000) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Rental income  223,643  205,087  39,054  38,498  -  -1,345  262,697  242,241 
Revenue from sales  -  -  271,580  107,860  -  -1,376  271,580  106,484 
Other revenue  18,599  10,639  62,062  84,833  -4,264  -47,447  76,397  48,025 
- Shared costs tenants  10,022  9,681  7,188  4,801  -  -  17,210  14,430 
- Electricity  -  -  49,958  31,919  -  -  49,958  31,919 
- Business management/other  8,576  958  4,916  48,113  -4,264  -47,447  9,229  1,624 
Total revenue and other income  242,242  215,726  372,696  231,191  -4,264  -50,168  610,674  396,750 

Cost of sales  12,603  15,689  135,024  87,406  -61  -3,150  147,566  99,944 
- Property related expenses  12,603  15,689  -  7,495  -  -  12,603  23,183 
- Other costs of sales  -  -  135,024  79,911  -61  -3,150  134,963  76,761 
Other expenses  63,854  63,785  459,953  357,493  -4,203  -47,018  519,604  374,260 
Total expenses  76,456  79,474  594,977  444,899  -4,264  -50,168  667,170  474,204 
Operating profit from operations  165,786  136,253  -222,281  -213,708  -  -  -56,495  -77,455 

Gain/(loss) from sale of fiber infrastructure  -    -    378  52,048  -    -    378  52,048 
Change in value of investment properties  177,150  -161,301  -    -    -    -    177,150  -161,301 
Operating profit  342,936  -25,048  -221,903  -161,660  -  -    121,033  -186,707 

Share of profit/loss(-) of investments accounted for using the equity method  11,813  -39,051  -  -  -  -  11,813  -39,051 
Finance income  26,274  33,714  190,014  389,464  -83,306  -324,857  132,982  98,321 
Finance costs  236,289  212,051  307,906  472,219  -83,306  -324,857  460,889  359,413 
Change in value of financial instruments  13,611  3,443  -5,482  -2,233  -  -  8,128  1,209 
Net financial items  -184,591  -213,946  -123,374  -84,989  -  -  -307,965  -298,935 

Profit before income tax  158,345  -238,994  -345,277  -246,649 -  -  -186,932  -485,642 
Income tax expense  -28,964  -40,609  -74,081  -29,273  -  -  -103,044  -69,882 
Profit for the year  187,309  -198,385  -271,197  -217,377 -  -  -83,888  -415,759 

Exchange differences from translation of foreign operations  -543  9,858  3,810  1,104  -  -  3,266  10,962 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -543  9,858  3,810  1,104  -  -  3,266  10,962 
Total comprehensive income  186,765  -188,527  -267,387  -216,273 -  -  -80,622   -404,797 

Please also see note 2 for further explanation of the segments.
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Note 6	 Rental income

Recognized rental income: 
Industrial Real Estate Bulk Infrastructure Digital

(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023 2024 2023

Recognized minimum rent from 
minimum payments

 223,643  205,087  39,054  38,498 

Recognized variable rent  -  -  -  - 
Total income from rent  223,643  205,087  39,054  38,498 

Future minimum payments to be received under non-cancellable leases:  

2024 2023 2024 2023

Within 1 year  227,478  245,181  29,919  23,249 
During year 2  227,605  275,083  28,895  13,043 
During year 3  224,968  289,865  22,716  11,601 
During year 4  195,837  266,213  19,654  11,430 
During year 5  181,737  237,332  19,565  11,321 
After 5 years  711,844  1,183,960  55,079  84,864 
Total  1,769,469  2,497,634  175,829  155,507 

The carrying amount of assets leased under operating leases are as follow: 

2024 2023 2024 2023

Investment property / property, 
plant and equipment

 4,742,092  4,169,120  604,330  590,125 

Total  4,742,092  4,169,120  604,330  590,125 

The carrying amount of assets leased under operating leases related to Bulk Infrastructure Digital 
includes Right-of-use assets, which are subleased. 

Note 7	 Employee benefit expense

Total personnel expenses

(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Salaries and remuneration  160,837 138,023
Social security costs  22,926 21,529
Pension cost for defined contribution plan  3,301 3,000
Share-based payments  28,044 9,795
Other employee expenses  6,879 5,517
Capitalized wages  -79,335 -62,603
Total personnel expenses  142,652 115,260

Number of employees at 31 December 100 89

Pursuant to the Norwegian Act on Mandatory Occupational Pension, Bulk Infrastructure Group AS, 
must operate certain pension plans. The company has plans which satisfy these requirements  
(a defined contribution plan for all employees).
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Remuneration of senior management and the Board of directors 2024
Name Title Salary Bonus Pension Board fee Other benefits

Jon Gravråk CEO  3,718  1,797  45  -  183 
Gaute Krekling CFO  3,001  870  45  -  147 
Peder Nærbø Executive Chair  4,354  -  45  175  - 
Torbjørn T. Moe Chief Business Development Officer  2,760  640  45  88  173 
Nina Hage EVP Industrial Real Estate  2,822  1,364  45  -  20 
Richard Brandon1) Chief Development Officer - EVP  1,195  -  84  -  - 
Rob Elder Chief Commercial Officer  1,976  6,031  45  -  22 
Tor Ribland Chief Operations Officer  1,682  325  45  -  17 
Torill Møklebust Chief of Staff  2,074  501  45  -  28 
Total  23,582  11,528  444  263  591 

Remuneration of senior management and the Board of directors 2023
Name Title Salary Bonus Pension Board fee Other benefits

Jon Gravråk CEO  3,827  3,313  40  -  199 
Gaute Krekling CFO  2,584  1,085  40  -  145 
Peder Nærbø Executive Chair  4,626  -  40  150  - 
Torbjørn T. Moe Chief Business Development Officer  2,686  1,113  40  150  168 
Nina Hage EVP, Industrial Real Estate  2,736  1,167  40  -  34 
Gisle M. Eckhoff EVP, Data Center  2,727  1,037  40  -  13 
Torill Møklebust Chief Governance Officer  1,991  441  40  -  130 
Total  21,176  8,155  281  300  688 

1)	 Employed from October 2024

In the event of resignation, the CEO, CFO and the EVPs are entitled to 6 months of salary.

The management bonus is based on the individual managers’ annual performance.

Shares held by executive officers and directors
The following board members and chief executives have indirect ownership in Bulk Infrastructure
Group AS:

 Ownership  Voting share 
Peder Nærbø Executive Chair indirect ownership 15.6 % 29.8 %
Torbjørn T. Moe Chief Business Development Officer indirect ownership 2.2 % 1.1 %

Executive Chair, Peder Nærbø, still has significant influence in Bulk Infrastructure Group AS through his joint control in Bulk Industrier AS, which holds the majority of the votes in 
Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS (owner of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS). Refer note 14 for shareholder information.

CEO Jon Gravråk and CFO Gaute Krekling have ownership of 3% and 0.75%, respectively, of Klub Bulk AS, which indirectly owns 2.24% of the total number of shares in Bulk 
Infrastructure Holding AS.

Management has shares in Klub Bulk AS. There is an agreement in place regarding future repurchase of shares in Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS at market price. Refer note 9 
for further information.
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Note 8	 Other cost

Other cost

(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Staff costs (see note 8)  142,652  115,260 
Depreciation (see note 15 and 16)  144,513  103,786 
Depreciation right-of-use assets  19,658  13,855 
Impairment (see note 16 and 21)  24,553  24,180 
Management, accounting, legal and consulting fees  53,037  33,336 
Auditors  5,234  3,544 
Other operating expenses  129,957  80,299 
Total other  519,604  374,259 

Audit fees
(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Statutory audit  5,234 3,439
Other services not related to auditing  -  - 
Other assurance services  495 105
Total audit costs  5,729  3,544 

The Group recognized no operating expenses related to investment property that did not generate 
rental income in 2024.

Note 9	 Share-based payments

Key Employee Share Option Plan 
Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS, established a share option plan in the end of 2021. The plan is effective 
as of January 1, 2022. The relevant employees are employed in Bulk Infrastructure Group AS and 
subsidiaries, as such the option cost is accounted for in this Group. The options are synthetic, hence 
the employee receives no ownership rights. The Employee Option Plan is designed to provide long-
term incentives for key employees and executives to deliver long-term shareholder returns. Under 
the plan, participants are granted options which vest by 1/3 each year over a period of three years. 
The options may be realized in the period January 1, 2025 to January 1, 2029, depending on grant 
date. Participation in the plan is at the board’s discretion, and no individual has a contractual right to 
participate in the plan or to receive any guaranteed benefits.	

In the given period of realization, 25% of the options has to be exercised upon each realization. The 
gain depends on Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS’s total shareholder return, including share price 
growth, dividends and capital returns.

Options are granted under the plan for no consideration and carry no dividend or voting rights.
When exercisable, any gain from the options is paid as an extraordinary bonus within three months of 
realization. The gain will only become payable if the employee is still employed and not in resignation 
at the time of payment.

The exercise price of options is based on the weighted average price in the company’s share issues.

Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan: 

2024 2023

(Figures in NOK)

Average exercise  
price per share 

option
Number of  

options

Average exercise  
price per share 

option
Number of  

options

As at January 1 19.94 1,133,228 19.94 902,570
Granted during the period 26.25 961,429 19.94  230,658 
Exercised during the period -  - -  - 
Forfeited during the period - -401,142 -  - 
As at December 31 23.52 1,693,515 19.94 1,133,228
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Share options outstanding at the end of the period have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price
Share options 

Dec 31, 2024
Share options 
Dec 31, 2023

January 1, 2022 September 1, 2026 19.94 732,086 902,570
January 1, 2023 September 1, 2026 19.94 - 80,230
May 1, 2023 September 1, 2029 19.94 - 150,428
October 10, 2024 October 10, 2029 26.25 961,429

Fair value of options granted
The average assessed fair value of options granted as of December 31, 2024 was NOK 8.86 per 
option. The fair value at grant date is independently determined using an adjusted form of the Black-
Scholes model which includes a Monte Carlo simulation model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share price at grant date and 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate 
for the term of the option, and the correlations and volatilities of the peer group companies.

The model inputs for options granted during the period ended December 31, 2024 included:
a)	 Options are granted for no consideration and vest based on Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS 

ranking within a peer group of 8 selected companies over a three-year period. Vested options are 
exercisable for a period of 1.75 years after vesting

b) 	 exercise price NOK  19.94 NOK 26.25
c) 	 grant date January 1, 2022 October 10, 2024
d) 	 expiry date September 1, 2026 October 10, 2029
e) 	 share price at grant date NOK 19.94 NOK 26.25
f) 	 expected price volatility of the company’s shares 34% 34%
g) 	 expected dividend yield 0% 0%
h) 	 risk-free interest rate  4.2%  3.9%

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility of 8 peer group companies, adjusted for 
dividend and stock splits.

Management incentive program - Klub Bulk AS
Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS, established a management incentive program through the company 
Klub Bulk AS in the end of 2019. The program was effective as of January 1, 2020. The incentive 
program is designed to provide long-term incentives for management to deliver shareholder returns. 
Under the program, participants are granted A- and B-shares, of which the B-shares are preference 
shares. A portion of the A-shares has an option element and are assessed as options when accounted 
for in the financial statements. The rights of the shares are the same, except that the B-shares have a 
right to an annual return equal to 8% of the face value of the shares. The shares granted give voting 
rights but carry no dividend.

The program runs over a period of 60 to 80 months from the effective date of the program. After 
60 months, the management shareholders have a right, but no obligation, to exercise a put option, 
which needs to include a minimum of 25% of the A- and B-shares. After 80 months, The Company 
has a right, but no obligation to purchase all of the shares in Klub Bulk AS related to the management 
incentive program.

Set out below are summaries of the option element of the A-shares granted under the program:

2024 2023
Average exercise  

price per share
Number of  

A-shares
Average exercise  

price per share 
Number of  

A-shares

As at January 1 158.94 55,278 158.94 55,278
Granted during the period -  -  -  - 
Exercised during the period -  -  -  - 
Forfeited during the period -  -  -  - 
As at December 31 158.94 55,278 158.94 55,278

Shares outstanding at the end of the period have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Grant date
Assumed  

expiry date Exercise price
A-shares

December 31, 2024 
A-shares

December 31, 2023
January 1, 2020 December 31, 2025 158.94 25,796 55,278
January 1, 2020 December 31, 2030 233.54 29,482 -

Fair value of shares granted
The assessed fair value of the shares upon establishment of the program was NOK 297.61 per share 
as of December 31, 2024. The fair value is determined by using an adjusted form of the Black-Scholes 
model which includes a Monte Carlo simulation model that takes into account the exercise price, the 
term of the option, the impact of dilution (where material), the share price at grant date and expected 
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield, the risk-free interest rate for the 
term of the shares, and the correlations and volatilities of the peer group companies.

The model inputs for the calculation for the period ended December 31, 2024 included:
a)	 shares vest until December 31, 2024. Vested 

shares are exercisable for a 
period of 20 months after vesting

December 31, 2029. Vested 
shares are exercisable for a 
period of 20 months after vesting

b) 	 exercise price NOK 158.94 NOK 233.54
c) 	 grant date January 1, 2020 January 1, 2020
d) 	 assumed expiry date December 31, 2025 December 31, 2030
e) 	 share price at grant date NOK 100.16 NOK 100.16
f) 	 expected price volatility of 

the company’s shares
34% 34%

g) 	 expected dividend yield 0% 0%
h) 	 risk-free interest rate  4.2%  3.8%

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility of 8 peer group companies, adjusted for 
dividend and stock splits.
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Note 10	 Investment property

Investment property
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Fair value 01.01  4,169,120  4,628,451 
Capital expenditure  560,600  257,960 
Acquisition of property  611,841  80,535 
Sale of real estate -815,126  - 
Transferred to assets held for sale  -  -668,339 
Currency translation on property in foreign subsidiaries  1,186  47,084 
Change in value of investment properties 214,471  -176,571 
Fair value 31.12  4,742,092  4,169,120 

Investment property classified as held for sale  -  668,339 

Income and expenses from investment property
Income from rent  223,643  205,087 
Other revenue - shared cost tenants  9,763  9,681 
Property-related expenses  12,603  15,689 

Sale of investment property
In 2024 the Group sold 9 investment properties. Two of the properties were classified as held for sale
year-end 2023, please refer to note 26. The property sales gave a loss before tax of NOK 34.3 million
in 2024. After tax the Group had a gain of NOK 49.7 million from the sales.

Fair value of investment properties 
After initial recognition, the investment properties are measured at fair value. The Group obtains 
valuations semi-annually from an external party. As of December 31, 2024 the valuation has been 
performed by a certified independent party, Malling & Co, and the following inputs were used:

Overview over input used for valuation 2024 2023

Valuation level 3 3
Valuation model DCF DCF
Fair value as of December 31 4,742,092 4,169,120
Estimated CPI 2.0 % 2.0 %
Total sqm  211,737  254,159 
Current rent per sqm (range) 781 - 2,284 447 - 2 130
Current rent per sqm (average) 1111 1185
Remaining lease period actual contracts (range) 2.7 - 14.4 3,7 - 15,4
Remaining lease period actual contracts (average) 7.8 8.2
Market rent per sqm (range) 882 - 2,020 553 - 1 918
Market rent per sqm (average)  1,133  1,127 
Actual vacancy 2.6 % 2.1 %
Valuation yield/discount rate (range) 5.17% - 7.00% 4.72% - 6.86%
Valuation yield/discount rate (average) 5.82 % 5.49 %

Bulk Industrial Real Estate (BIRE) has, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the 
investment and development properties, determined that the properties should be presented based 
on geographical segments. The properties, including project properties and development sites are 
primarily clustered around the Oslo region. The other geographical segments, in addition to project 
properties and zoned development sites, is included in the total management portfolio.

Ranges and weighted averages from the external appraisers are presented for the areas where the 
Group has two or more properties. 

The appraisers have for the valuation as of 31.12.24 in average assumed inflation of 3.2 per cent for 
2025, 2.7 per cent for 2026 and 2.3 per cent for 2027. The assumed inflation upon terminal value is 2.0 
per cent.

Analysis is excluding Denmark.

Market yield takes into account current market conditions and expectations, while contract/valuation 
yield represents the actual return guaranteed through existing lease agreements.

As of 31.12.24 Lindeberg Vestby Langhus Enebakk
Total  

portfolio

No. Properties  12  7  4  2  30 
Market value (NOK million)  1,025  2,157  733  441  4,770 

Market yield
Min 5.0% 5.6% 5.5% 6.0% 5.0%
Max 6.2% 6.6% 6.1% 6.5% 6.6%
Average 5.7% 6.0% 5.7% 6.1% 6.0%

Required rate of return
Min 5.2% 5.4% 5.2% 6.3% 5.2%
Max 6.0% 6.1% 5.8% 7.0% 7.0%
Average 5.5% 5.9% 5.6% 6.4% 5.8%

Market rent (NOK/sqm)
Min  1,300  882  1,400  1,228  882 
Max  1,914  1,114  1,550  2,020  2,020 
Average  1,405  982  1,426  1,384  1,133 

Operating cost
Min 3.0% 3.6% 4.4% 2.4% 2.4%
Max 5.6% 5.4% 4.8% 2.9% 5.6%
Average 3.5% 3.7% 4.6% 2.8% 3.7%

Construction capex (NOK/sqm)
Min  15,000  10,750  15,000  -  10,750 
Max  15,000  12,500  15,000  -  15,000 
Average  15,000  11,625  15,000  -  13,025 

PAGE 31 BROWSE SEARCH

Letter from CEO and chairman

Group presentation

Bulk Infrastructure Digital

Bulk Industrial Real Estate

Board of Directors Report 2024

Consolidated financial  
statements

Parent company financial 
statements

Responsibility statement

Auditor’s report



 Annual Report 2024

BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As of 31.12.23 Lindeberg Vestby Langhus Enebakk
Total  

portfolio

No. Properties  12  7  4  2  34 
Market value (NOK million)  1,029  1,858  661  426  4,688 

Market yield
Min 5.0% 5.8% 5.4% 6.3% 5.0%
Max 6.2% 6.5% 6.8% 6.7% 7.7%
Average 5.7% 6.2% 6.2% 6.7% 6.2%

Required rate of return
Min 4.7 % 4.9 % 5.5 % 6.0 % 4.7 %
Max 5.5 % 6.0 % 5.6 % 6.9 % 6.9 %
Average 5.0 % 5.4 % 5.5 % 6.2 % 5.5 %

Market rent (NOK/sqm)
Min  1,311  930  1,397  1,356  553 
Max  1,918  1,166  1,600  1,850  1,918 
Average  1,411  996  1,419  1,454  1,127 

Operating cost
Min 3.0% 3.3% 4.6% 2.4% 2.4%
Max 5.7% 5.3% 5.0% 2.7% 9.6%
Average 3.5% 3.5% 4.6% 2.7% 4.0%

Construction capex (NOK/sqm)
Min  14,000  13,000  14,000  -  12,500 
Max  14,000  13,000  14,000  -  14,000 
Average  14,000  13,000  14,000  -  12,695

All investment properties are valued using discounted cash flow. Key factors are ongoing revenue 
and expenses relating to the property, market lease, discount factor and inflation. Macro economic 
assumptions are used, but each property is also subject to individual appraisal. To determine each 
discount rate, the property location, attractiveness, quality and the general market conditions for real 
estate, credit market, solidity of tenants and contracts are considered. The sensitivity when evaluating 
fair value for investment property is connected to yield, interest rate level, inflation (CPI) and marked 
lease for the properties. 	

Future leasing payments:	 The payments are estimated based on actual location, type and 
condition of the current building. The estimates are supported by 
existing leases, as well as recent lease agreements for similar 
properties in the same area.

Discount rate:	 The discount rate is based on existing market rates, adjusted for the 
estimated uncertainty in terms of size and future cash flows. 

Estimated vacancies: 	 The estimate is firmly set on the basis of the actual market conditions 
and the expected market conditions at the end of existing leases.

Cost of Ownership:	 The cost of ownership expenses is estimated based on the estimated 
maintenance costs regarding maintaining the building’s capacity over 
its economic lifetime.

Sensitivity
The sensitivity of the fair value of investment properties are thus among others associated yield 
and the market rent for the properties. Indicated below are the separate effects of changes in these 
variables (amounts in NOK million):

Fair value change
Variables Changes in variables + -

Yield +/- 0.25% -159 168
Market rent +/- 5% 140 -135
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 11	 Joint venture and associated companies

Associated companies 2024

(Figures in NOK ‘000)

Foundation /  
Acquisition 

date Country Office location Ownership
Book value

 01.01

Dividends /  
Impairment/

Repayments/
Acquisition

Share of  
net profit after tax

Book value
 31.12

Berger Terminal Holding II AS 19/01/2022 Norway Oslo 25% 53,778  1,293 1,041 56,111
Bulk Park Enebakk AS 06/07/2020 Norway Oslo 50% 29,839  -0 10,773 40,611
Electric City Properties AS 29/08/2024 Norway Oslo 50% 0  50 0 50
Total  83,616  1,343  11,813  96,773 

Associated companies 2023

(Figures in NOK ‘000)

Foundation /  
Acquisition 

date Country Office location Ownership
Book value

 01.0
Dividends /  
Impairment

Share of  
net profit after tax

Book value
 31.12

Berger Terminal Holding II AS 19/01/2022 Norway Oslo 25% 60,749  -2,100 -4,871 53,778
Bulk Park Enebakk AS 06/07/2020 Norway Oslo 50% 76,018  -11,999 -34,181 29,839
Total 136,767  -14,099 -39,051 83,616
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Summary of financial information in the consolidated financial statement of Berger Terminal Holding II 
AS on a 100% basis in accordance with IFRS

Income statement
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Total income  21,556  21,030 
Total expenses  1,163  948 
Operating profit before fair value adjustments on investment 
properties 

 20,393  20,082 

Fair value adjustments on investment properties  -5,000  -35,000 
Operating profit  15,393  -14,918 

Net financial items  -11,499  -11,638 

Profit before income tax  3,894  -26,556 
Income tax expense  -268  -7,072 
Profit for the year  4,162  -19,483 

Balance sheet
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Assets
Non-current assets  568,300  570,000 
Current assets  8,742  5,035 
- Cash and cash equivalents  8,551  4,384 
Total assets  577,042  575,035 

Equity and liabilities
Equity  224,445  226,588 
Non-Current liabilities  350,142  346,137 
- Deferred tax  29,142  25,137 
Current liabilities  2,455  2,310 
Total Equity and liabilities  577,042  575,035 

Reconciliation of carrying amount
(Figures in NOK ‘000) Shareholding (%) 2024 2023

Net assets 100%  224,445  226,588 
Group’s shareholding in the company 25%  56,111  56,647 
Carrying amount of Group’s shareholding 25%  56,111  56,647 

Summary of financial information in the consolidated financial statement of Bulk Park Enebakk AS on a 
100% basis in accordance with IFRS

Income statement
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Total income  104  2,100 
Total expenses  695  6,521 
Operating profit before fair value adjustments on investment 
properties 

 -591  -4,421 

Fair value adjustments on investment properties  56,452  -68,689 
Operating profit  55,860  -73,111 

Net financial items  -12,325  -10,362 

Profit before income tax  43,535  -83,473 
Income tax expense  12,130  -15,112 
Profit for the year  31,405  -68,361 

Balance sheet
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Assets
Non-current assets  294,010  232,305 
Current assets  3,819  11,138 
- Cash and cash equivalents  3,217  6,206 
Total assets  297,830  243,443 

Equity and liabilities
Equity  81,223  52,883 
Non-Current liabilities  206,918  183,233 
- Deferred tax  37,689  25,559 
Current liabilities  9,689  7,328 
Total Equity and liabilities  297,830  243,443 

Reconciliation of carrying amount
(Figures in NOK ‘000) Shareholding (%) 2024 2023

Net assets 100%  81,223  52,883 
Group’s shareholding in the company 50 %  40,611  26,441 
Carrying amount of Group’s shareholding 50 %  40,611  26,441 
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 13	 Tax

Income tax
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Tax payable  -  - 
Change in deferred tax -103,044 -69,882
Income tax expense -103,044 -69,882

Explanation of difference between Norwegian tax rate of 22% and the effective tax rate:

Profit before income tax -186,932  -485,642 

Income tax expense calculated at 22 % -41,125  -106,841 
Permanent differences  26,502  36,898 
Tax effect from sales of companies  -84,068 -
Change in taxes from previous years  -17,450 -
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognized  13,097  - 
Income tax expense/benefit (-) -103,044  -69,944 
Effective tax rate 55.1 % 14.4 %

Current income tax liabilities
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Current income tax  -  - 
Change in prior years  -  - 
Total current income tax liabilities  -  - 

Reconciliation net recognized deferred tax /(-)tax assets
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

01.01 143,172 215,580
Deferred tax expense (income) recognized in profit and loss -103,044 -69,882
Change related to purchased/sold companies, reported against equity -3,769 730
Other changes reported against equity 2,336 -
Other changes/Reclassifications 729  -3,256 
Currency effects 684 -
Net recognized deferred tax liability 31.12 40,108 143,172

Loss carried forward
(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

No expiration date -1,774,740 -1,466,560
Total loss carried forward -1,774,740 -1,466,560

There is no deferred tax recognized in other comprehensive income.

Note 12	 Financial income and costs

(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Share of profit/loss(-) of investments accounted for using the equity 
method

11,813 -39,051

Finance income
Interest income 98,333 32,096
Currency gain 34,572 65,978
Other finance income 77  247 
Total finance income 132,982 98,321

Finance costs
Interest expense on borrowings measured at amortized cost 433,403 329,809
Currency loss  10,440  11,917 
Other finance costs  17,046  17,687 
Total finance costs 460,889 359,413

Fair value adjustments on derivatives 8,128 1,209

Net financial items -307,965 -298,935
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Changes in deferred tax/(-)tax assets

(Figures in NOK ‘000)
Loss carried 

forward
Investment 

property
Financial 

derivatives
Real Estate and 

fixed assets Other items
Total deferred tax/

(-)tax assets

01.01.2024  -322,678  455,969  -774  18,422  -7,767  143,172 
Deferred tax expense (income) recognized in profit and loss  -77,419  -38,308  7,519  5,165  -  -103,044 
Change related to purchased/sold companies, reported against 
equity

 11,057  -14,826  -  -  -  -3,769 

Other changes reported against equity  -1,403  3,739  -  -  -  2,336 
Other changes/Reclassifications  0  -70,377  -452  64,511  7,048  729 
Currency effects  -  684  -  -  -  684 
31.12.2024  -390,443  336,881  6,292  88,097  -720  40,108 

Changes in deferred tax/(-)tax assets

(Figures in NOK ‘000)
Loss carried 

forward
Investment 

property
Financial 

derivatives
Profit and 

loss account Other items
Total deferred tax/

(-)tax assets

01.01.2023 -265,700 470,281 -1,040 16,458 -4,419  215,580 
Deferred tax expense (income) recognized in profit and loss -57,708 -14,311 266  1,963 -92  -69,882 
Change related to purchased/sold companies 730  -  -  -  - 730
Changes related to tax estimates  -  -  -  - -3,256 -3,256
31.12.2023  -322,678  455,969  -774  18,422  -7,767  143,172 
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 14	 Paid in equity and shareholders

2024 2023

Share capital 5,059,968 3,726,321

Change in paid in equity and share premium

Total shares Share capital Share premium
(Figures in NOK '000) 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Issued stock and paid in capital
At the beginning of the year  372,632,056  326,350,306  3,726,321  3,263,503  3,841,445,485  2,918,911,363 
Capital increase  133,364,786  46,281,750  1,333,648  462,818  4,008,666,351  922,534,123 
At the end of the year  505,996,842  372,632,056  5,059,968  3,726,321  7,850,111,837  3,841,445,485 

The total number of shares are 505,996,842, each valued at NOK 0.01, and NOK 5,059,968 in total share capital. 

The company’s shareholders at December 31, 2024
Shareholder Type of share Country Number of shares Share %

Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS Ordinary shares Norway  505,996,842 100%

 
Dividend	
The company did not pay any dividend in 2024. No dividend has been proposed for approval in 2025. 

Average number of shares
Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders in the parent 
company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

2024 2023

Total comprehensive income, net of tax, attributable to shareholders in the parent Company -89,434,617 -395,003,062
Weighted average number of outstanding shares	 423,314,524 354,568,473
Basic and diluted earnings per share -0.21 -1.11
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 15	 Goodwill and impairment 

The goodwill included in the balance sheet is related to the acquisition of OS-IX Eiendom Holding AS on January 19, 2022. The value of the company and the corresponding 
goodwill is still considered to be valid as of year-end 2024. The value of the company is assessed to have increased since the acquisition, mainly due to new signings of 
customers and expansion of the data center facilities. As such, no indicators of impairment were identified. 	

Note 16	 Intangible assets

(Figures in NOK ’000) Goodwill 
Software 
licenses

Software under 
development

Other
 intangible Total

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2024  19,018  3,275  24,560  4,268  51,120 
Additions  -  796  10,333  15,986  27,116 
Other adjustments - currency  -  -  -  5  5 
Balance at December 31, 2024  19,018  4,071  34,893  20,259  78,240 

Balance at January 1, 2023  19,018 1,895  - 14,335 35,248
Additions  -  1,380  12,593 1,898 15,871
Transfer from "other intangible assets"  -  -  11,966 -11,966  - 
Balance at December 31, 2023 19,018 3,275 24,560 4,268 51,120

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Balance at January 1, 2024  16,948  1,916  -  3,406  22,271 
Amortization charge for the year  -  567  -  3,695  4,263 
Other adjustments - currency  -  -  -  21  21 
Balance at December 31, 2024  16,948  2,484  -  7,123  26,555 

Balance at January 1, 2023  16,948  1,709  -  839  19,496 
Amortization charge for the year  -  207  -  2,567  2,775 
Balance at December 31, 2023  16,948  1,916  -  3,406  22,271 

Net book value
At January 1, 2024  2,070  1,358  24,560  861  28,849 
At December 31, 2024  2,070  1,587  34,893  13,136  51,686 
At January 1, 2023  2,070  186  -  13,497  15,752 
At December 31, 2023  2,070  1,358  24,560  861  28,849 

Current estimates of useful economic life of intangible assets are as follows:
Goodwill: indefinite
Software licenses: 3-5 years
Software under development: n.a.
Other intangible assets: 3-5 years
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Note 17	 Property, plant & Equipment

(Figures in NOK ‘000)
Datacenter

buildings

Datacenter
technical  

infrastructure
Datacenter

land
Under

 construction
Other fixed

assets
Fiber 

infrastructure Total

Accumulated cost
Balance at January 1, 2024  712,023  1,071,588  190,763  1,217,422  32,590  488,886  3,713,272 
Additions  182,396  577,483  188,496  1,664,381  19,025  7,368  2,639,147 
Disposals  -9,002  -7,327  -  -  -5,343  -  -21,672 
Write-downs  -  -  -  -20,853  -  -  -20,853 
Other adjustments - currency  6,937  1,623  1,036  249  988  4,903  15,736 
Other reclassifications  -2,165  4,685  0  -27,473  24,953  -  0 
Reclassification to Right-of-use assets  -  -  -  -  -  -117,485  -117,485 
Balance at December 31, 2024 890,188 1,648,052 380,295 2,833,727 72,213 383,671 6,208,146

Balance at January 1, 2023  702,595  886,902  190,547  452,838  29,892  462,612  2,725,385 
Additions  51  181,023  -  763,508  2,699  93,581  1,040,861 
Disposals  -  -  -  -  -  -70,100  -70,100 
Other adjustments - currency  9,377  3,663  217  1,077  -  7,474 22,807
Reclassification to Assets held for sale  -  -  -  -  -  -4,680  -4,680 
Balance at December 31, 2023 712,023 1,071,588 190,763 1,217,422 32,590 488,886 3,713,272

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2024 176,772  244,520  5,729  - 27,435 48,344 502,800
Depreciation charge for the year  24,908  92,208  1,629  -  5,304  16,201 140,251
Disposals  -9,002  -7,327  -  -  -5,343  - -21,672
Impairment  -  -  -  -  -  - 0
Other adjustments - currency  1,108  201  -  -  178  472 1,959
Balance at December 31, 2024 193,786 329,603 7,357  - 27,575 65,018 623,338

Balance at January 1, 2023 157,307  174,984  4,225  - 21,793  28,090 386,399
Depreciation charge for the year 16,856  58,525  1,414  - 5,642  19,503 101,940
Impairment  -  7,322  -  -  -  - 7,322
Other adjustments - currency 2,609  3,688  89  -  -  752 7,138
Balance at December 31, 2023 176,772 244,520 5,729  - 27,435 48,344 502,800

Net book value
At January 1, 2024 535,251  827,068 185,035  1,217,422 5,155 440,542 3,210,472
At December 31, 2024 696,403  1,318,449 372,938 2,833,727 44,638 318,654 5,584,808
At January 1, 2023 545,288  711,918 186,321 452,838 8,098 434,522 2,338,985
At December 31, 2023 535,251 827,068 185,035 1,217,422 5,155 440,542 3,210,472

Expected useful economic life 50 years 5–35 years  25 years  - 4–10 years 20–30 years

All property, plant and equipment are located in Norway, Denmark, United Kingdom and Ireland.
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Note 18	 Leases - group as a lessee (IFRS 16 disclosure)

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Land and buildings Terrestrial fiber Seafiber
Office  

equipment
Motor  

vehicles Total

Right of use assets
Balance at January 1, 2024  40,379  171,954  1,330  63 - 213,727
Depreciations  8,206  10,636  108  63  644 19,658
Additions  702  -  -  -  1,839 2,542
Reclassification from Property, plant and equipment - 117,485  -  -  - 117,485
Adjustments  3,756 -1,011  661  -  -  3,406 
Balance at December 31, 2024  36,632  277,792  1,883 -0  1,195  317,502 

 53,654  177,191  19,766  148  31  250,790 
 6,828  5,333  1,578  85  31  13,855 

 -  -  16,858  -  -  16,858 
 -  96  -  -  -  96 

Balance at January 1, 2023 
Depreciations
Impairment
Additions
Adjustments -6,446  -  -  -  - -6,446
Balance at December 31, 2023  40,379  171,954  1,330  63 - 213,727

Rental period 3-10 20 1-40 2-3 1-3

Lease liabilities
2024 2023

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than one year  13,796  11,512 
Between one and five years  47,271  44,846 
More than five years  17,151  22,648 
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December  78,219  79,005 
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial 
position at 31 December  63,707  63,062 

Amount recognized in profit or loss
2024 2023

Interest on lease liabilities  4,076  3,911 
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets  19,658  13,855 
Gains and losses due to terminations, purchases, impairments,
and other changes - 16,858

Expense relating to leases of low-value assets  574  64 
Total amount recognized in profit or loss  24,308  34,688 

Amount recognized in cash flow statement

Total cash flow from leases  14,307  9,890 

Other information
The IRU´s for the Terrestrial fiber are paid up-front for a period of 20 years with options for another 
20 years. The option period is not included in the disclosure of the Right-of-use asset. As the fiber is 
prepaid, there is no liability related to the Right-of-use asset.

The Group does not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases or leases 
where the underlying assets have low value. The lease payments for such leases are recognized as 
costs linearly over the lease periods.
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BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 19	 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated 
companies

As of December 31, 2024 the Group consists of the following subsidiaries:
Subsidiaries Office location Vote- / Ownership 31.12

Bulk Industrial Real Estate AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Eiendom Farex AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Lindeberg II AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Lindeberg V AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Lindeberg VI AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Gardermoen IV AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Vinterbro II AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Eiendom Vestby II AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Berger IV AS Oslo 100.0%
Logibulk I AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Ormlia AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Industrial Real Estate ApS Copenhagen, Denmark 100.0%
Bulk Lindeberg VII AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Lindeberg IX AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Lindeberg X AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Vestby Øst AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Vestby Nord AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Langhus AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Danebuåsen AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Enebakk AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Vestby II AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Herstua AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Park Enebakk II AS Oslo 51.0%
C5 Invest AS Oslo 51.0%
AE Bulk Co Invest AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers OS-IX AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers N01 AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers N01 DCM101 AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers N01 DCM102 AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers N01 DCM103 AS Oslo 100.0%
N01 Utilities AS Oslo 100.0%
N01 Real Estate AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Data Centers DK01 ApS Esbjerg, Denmark 100.0%
Bulk Infrastructure UK Ltd London, UK 100.0%
Bulk Fiber Networks AS Oslo 100.0%
Electric City-Link Norway AS Oslo 100.0%
Optibulk Skagerak AS Oslo 100.0%
Optibulk Havfrue AS Oslo 100.0%

Subsidiaries Office location Vote- / Ownership 31.12

Infragreen Communications AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Fiber Networks Denmark ApS Copenhagen, Denmark 100.0%
Bulk Fiber Networks UK Ltd London, UK 100.0%
Bulk Fiber Networks Ireland Limited Dublin, Ireland 100.0%
Bulk Powered Land AS Oslo 100.0%
Norway as a Service AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Innovation AS Oslo 100.0%
Bulk Newco AS Oslo 100.0%

Associated companies Office location Vote- / Ownership 31.12

Berger Terminal Holding II AS Oslo 25.0%
Bulk Park Enebakk AS Oslo 50.0%
Electric City Properties AS Kristiansand 50.0%

PAGE 41 BROWSE SEARCH

Letter from CEO and chairman

Group presentation

Bulk Infrastructure Digital

Bulk Industrial Real Estate

Board of Directors Report 2024

Consolidated financial  
statements

Parent company financial 
statements

Responsibility statement

Auditor’s report



 Annual Report 2024

BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 20	 Financial assets and liabilities

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair value of the Group’s financial 
assets and financial liabilities included in the financial statements

(Figures in NOK ‘000)

Carrying 
amount

as at 
31.12.2024

Fair value
as at 

31.12.2024

Carrying 
amount

as at 
31.12.2023

Fair value
as at 

31.12.2023

Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss
Interest rate swaps  30,419  30,419  24,808  24,808 
Total financial assets at fair value  30,419  30,419  24,808  24,808 

Financial assets at amortized cost
Receivable from related party - non-current  -  -  1,242  1,242 
Other receivables  46,876  46,876 58,919  58,919 
Investment in shares - non-current  - - 1,249  1,249 
Receivable from related party - current  256  256 -981  -981 
Trade and other receivables  280,804  280,804 302,758  302,758 
Total financial assets at amortized cost  327,936  327,936  363,187  363,187 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,502,749 3,502,749 1,026,391 1,026,391

Total financial assets 3,861,105 3,861,105  1,414,386  1,414,386 

Total current 3,783,810 3,783,810 1,328,168 1,328,168
Total non-current 77,295 77,295  86,218 86,218

(Figures in NOK ‘000)

Carrying 
amount

as at 
31.12.2024

Fair value
as at 

31.12.2024

Carrying 
amount

as at 
31.12.2023

Fair value
as at 

31.12.2023

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss
Interest rate swaps 1,819 1,819 4,336 4,336
Total financial liabilities at fair value 1,819 1,819 4,336 4,336

Financial liabilities at amortized cost
Bond loan 2,510,301 2,500,000 1,722,463 1,722,463
Borrowings 2,556,078 2,556,078  1,623,896 1,623,896
Short-term portion of bond loan - -  565,000  565,000 
Short-term portion of borrowings 1,056,177 1,056,177  762,914 762,914
Other long-term liabilities - -  7,077 7,077
Trade payables 213,756 213,756  182,391 182,391
Other payables1) 220,379 220,379 134,283 134,283
Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 6,556,690 6,546,390 4,998,024 4,998,024

Total financial liabilities 6,558,509 6,548,208 5,002,360 5,002,360

Total current 1,490,311 1,490,311  1,080,108  1,080,108 
Total non-current 5,068,198 5,057,897  3,922,251  3,922,251 

1)	 Other payables only represent financial liabilities. 
	

For trade receivables, trade payables and other short-term receivables and payables, the carrying 
amount is a reasonable approximation for fair value due to the short term nature of these assets 
and liabilities. The borrowings has an interest rate that is considered similar to the terms the Group 
could achieve as of December 31, 2024 and carrying amount of the borrowings is considered not to 
be significantly different from the fair value. The fair value of derivatives is based on mark to market 
reports received from banks.
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Fair value hierarchy
The Group uses financial hierarchy under IFRS 13 for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial instruments by valuation techniques. Below table presents fair value measurement to the 
Group’s assets and liabilities at December 31.

December 31, 2024

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps -  30,419 -  30,419 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps - 1,819 -  1,819 

December 31, 2023

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps -  24,808 -  24,808 

Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps - 4,336 -  4,336 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in an active market is based on unadjusted quoted 
market prices for identical assets or liabilities at the balance sheet date and are included in level 1. 
For Bulk this category is not relevant as of period close.

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly, are level 2 inputs. For Bulk this will typically apply for interest rate swaps, 
which are over-the-counter derivatives.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs and are applied when relevant observable inputs are not 
available. The fair values presented in this category are mainly based on internal assumptions. There 
were no transfers between any of the levels during the reporting period.

Note 21	 Derivative financial instruments

(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Interest rate swaps  30,419  24,808 
Total assets 30,419  24,808 

Interest rate swaps 1,819 4,336
Total liabilities 1,819 4,336

Interest rate swaps

(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Nominal amount interest rate swaps -815,486 -688,023
Total nominal amount -815,486 -688,023

The Group receives floating interest and pays fixed interest.

Note 22	 Options, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

The Group has options to acquire land on certain terms and conditions, both zoned and unzoned.

In addition, the Group has agreements to purchase land, contingent of finalized zoning, hence 
with uncertain timing. These agreements, with the corresponding land and liability, have not been 
accounted for in the balance sheet, and will be accounted for upon purchase.
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Note 23	 Inventories

(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Inventory data center  13,913  19,774 
Total Inventories  13,913  19,774 

Note 24	 Trade and other receivables

(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Trade receivables 117,763 161,186 
Other current receivables 280,048 140,684 
Trade and other receivables  397,811  301,870 

Other current receivables consist of earned not accrued revenue, VAT and other short-term receivables

(Figures in NOK ’000) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Provision for impairment of trade receivables at 01.01 3,678 550
This year’s provision for receivables impairment  8,861  3,678 
Loss on receivables  -  - 
Reversal of prior years provision 0  -550 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables at 31.12  12,538 3,678

Refer also note 27 for elaboration on credit risk and assessment of provisions.

Ageing of trade and other receivables
				  
(Figures in NOK ’000) Total Not due 0-30d 30-60d 60-90d >90d

December 31, 2024  397,811  361,560  74  1,459  193  34,525 
December 31, 2023  301,870  182,974  75,518  4,246  84  39,049 

Book value of trade and other receivables in the Group’s balance sheet is considered to provide a 
reasonable estimate of the fair value. 

Related party disclosures
The Group provides accounting and asset management services to its parent companies, Bulk 
Industrier AS and Green Keeper AS, and asset management services to the joint venture, Berger 
Terminal Holding II AS. The costs related to the transactions amount to 441,447 NOK in 2024 and 
423,068 NOK in 2023. 

Note 25	 Cash and cash equivalents

(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Cash and cash equivalents 3,494,492 1,021,428
Restricted funds 8,257 4,962
Total 3,502,749 1,026,391

Note 26	 Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale

As of year-end 2023 the Group had initiated processes to sell the properties Bulk Jernholmen located 
outside of Copenhagen, Denmark and Bulk Vinterbro II outside of Oslo, Norway. These properties 
were thus classified as held for sale December 31, 2023. Both sales were completed in 2024. 

In addition, a customer exercised the option in 2023 to purchase the last span of fiber on the Havfrue 
fiber cable in accordance with the option agreement. The transaction was carried out in Q4 2023. 
However, a small portion of the terrestrial fiber connected to the Havfrue cable was not sold but 
expected to be transferred to the same customer in Q1 2024. This was thus classified as held for 
sale December 31, 2023. However, the sale has as of year-end 2024 not been finalized, but this is 
expected shortly. As a consequence, this fiber asset remains in the statement of financial position as 
held for sale. 

(Figures in NOK ’000) 2024 2023

Assets classified as held for sale
Property, plant and equipment  4,680  643,290 
Other receivables  -  29,729 
Total assets of disposal group held for sale  4,680  673,019 

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale
Borrowings  -  371,599 
Total liabilities of disposal group held for sale  -  371,599 
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Note 27 	Financial risk management

Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to different types of financial risks including credit-, liquidity- and market risk 
(e.g. interest- and currency risk). The Group’s management regularly evaluates these risks and 
establishes guidelines for how they are handled. The purpose of risk management is to measure and 
manage financial risk in a reliable manner, thereby increasing predictability and reducing negative 
effects on the Group’s financial results. 

Market risk
The macro drivers for large scale demand for digital Nordic infrastructure are healthy and suggest 
strong market growth long term. The timing of such large-scale demand asset by asset is difficult 
to predict and hence exposes the Group to short term uncertainty on capacity development and 
utilization. Risk is managed by strong focus on our time to market capability that allows for better 
matching of capacity build-out and verified demand as well as discipline in build-up of fixed cost in 
early stages of new asset operations. 

The Group is experiencing uncertainty related to the transaction market for commercial real estate. 
This is driven by changes in fundamental macroeconomic factors, hereunder interest rates, consumer 
price index and yield expectations. The Group is currently set up to take advantage of potential 
investment opportunities and is following the market to identify these. 

The Group is also exposed to the risk of changes in lease and rental prices in the market. The Group 
has several long-term lease agreements in place, which reduces this risk. The weighted average lease 
term for tenants was 7,8 years as of December 31, 2024 compared to 8,2 years in the previous year. 
The lease agreements provide The Group with fixed and predictable revenues throughout the contract 
period. Most lease agreements are adjusted annually 100 % in line with the consumer price index. The 
rate of vacancy in the Group’s properties is 2,6 % as of December 31, 2024, compared to 2,1 % as of 
December 31, 2023. 

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings issued at variable interest rates, and 
changes in the interest rate levels will have a direct impact on the future cash flow for the Group. 
The Group has prepared guidelines for management of interest rate risks, where it is Group policy 
to maintain a share of its borrowings at fixed interest rates. The distribution between floating and 
fixed rates will not necessarily be the same for all Group companies, and some of the current loan 
agreements have hedging ratio-covenants. 

The Group uses interest rate derivatives to manage the interest rate exposure. As of December 31, 
2024 NOK 815.5 million of the Group’s borrowings of NOK 6,111.3 million is hedged at a fixed rate. 
Hedged nominal amount of NOK 815.5 million expires between 2025 and 2033. The Group’s interest 
cost is estimated to increase/decrease by NOK 26.5 million for 2025 based on a change in the interest 
rate of +/- 0.5%. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss when a party is unable to redeem their obligations to the Group. The 
risk is mainly linked to trade receivables and other receivables. Based on historical losses the risk 
is considered low. The credit risk is managed by doing thorough evaluations of the credit quality of 
the customer when new lease agreements are signed, demand deposits or guarantees, and perform 
regular monitoring of the credit quality of material customers. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end is equal to the carrying amount of financial assets. 
The majority of the Group’s customers pay in advance for the services received. As such, the credit 
risk is deemed as low. The Group deems obligations to the Group to be in default when payments are 
90 days past due. Please refer to note 24 for an ageing of trade and other receivables. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations at maturity, and the risk 
that the Group will not be able to meet its liquidity obligations without a significant increase in cost. 
From a broader perspective, liquidity risk also include the risk that the Group is not able to finance 
necessary investments. The Group continuously monitors the Group’s liquidity and has a long-term 
liquidity forecast in place. Management also monitors the Group’s installments and expiration of the 
long-term debt and prepares action plans to be able to meet its obligations. Liquidity risk is reduced by 
having a sufficient liquidity reserve, and by ensuring that the debt maturities are distributed over time. 
The table below illustrates the maturity structure of liabilities. 

Financial liabilities 2024
Expected cashflows

Figures in NOK ´000)
Carrying 
amount Year 1 Year 2 Year 3-5

After 
year 5

Bond loans  2,510,301  - -1,250,000 -1,250,000  - 
Borrowings  3,612,255  -1,056,177 -1,332,642 -1,162,436  -61,000 
Lease liabilities  63,707  -10,259  -10,944  -30,632  -11,872 
Trade payables  213,756  -213,756  -  -  - 
Interest costs (bond loans)  9,465  -270,000  -229,069  -159,308  - 
Interest costs  13,858  -195,927  -114,316  -141,010  -4,227 
Other current payables1)  197,056  -197,056  -  -  - 
Total non-derivative financial 
obligations

 6,620,397  -1,943,176 -2,936,970 -2,743,386  -77,099 

Derivative financial instruments  1,819  22.5  -261.3  -950.2  -978.5 
Total derivative financial obligations  1,819  22.5  -261.3  -950.2  -978.5 
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Financial liabilities 2023

Expected cashflows

(Figures in NOK ´000)
Carrying 
amount Year 1 Year 2 Year 3-5

After
 year 5

Bond loans  2,287,463  -565,000  - -1,722,463  - 
Borrowings (bank)  2,386,810  -762,914  -506,815 -1,056,081  -61,000 
Other long-term liabilities - seller credit  7,077  -  -  -7,077  - 
Trade payables  182,391  -182,391  -  -  - 
Interest costs (bond loans)  -  -259,746  -187,075  -334,900  - 
Interest costs (bank)  -  -148,396  -101,416  -43,589  -4,514 
Other current payables1)  134,283  -134,283  -  -  - 
Liabilities directly associated with the 
assets held for sale  371,599  -371,599  -  -  - 

Total non-derivative financial obligations  5,369,622 -2,424,329  -795,306  -3,164,110  -65,514 

Derivative financial instruments  4,336  36  -449  -1,667  -1,741 
Total derivative financial obligations  4,336  36  -449  -1,667  -1,741 

1)	 Other current payables are not complete as the table only presents financial liabilities. 

Fair value of financial derivatives
Fair value of derivatives, including interest rate swaps, is determined upon the present value of future 
cash flows relating to the agreements. The present value is calculated based on interest rate curves on 
the date of appraisal. The calculations are made by the bank with which the agreement is made. 

Sensitivity effect of change in variables (MNOK):
Fair value change

Variables Change in variables + 1 % - 1%
NIBOR +/- 1 % 3.51 -3.80

Sensitivity is obtained from DnB.

Note 28	 Capital structure and capital management

The Group’s objectives relating to capital management are to ensure continued operation, to provide 
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The main objective of the Group’s capital management is to 
maintain a favourable debt and equity ratio and to reduce the Group’s interest cost. The debt ratio 
(loan-to-value/”LTV”) is calculated as net interest-bearing debt divided by fair value of investment 
property and book value of Property, Plant and Equipment. The Group’s objective is to have an LTV 
ratio below 60 %. The Group’s LTV is 55 % as of December 31, 2024. To change the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Group’s capital needs are influenced by the need for a liquidity reserve for existing and possible 
new projects. 

Solidity and liquidity
Equity and liquidity reserve are central key figures in the management of the Group capital structure. 
The Group liquidity reserve should be in proportion with all ongoing projects and any new projects. 

Group covenants
As of December 31, 2024, the Group is in compliance with all financial covenants. The Group has 
issued two bonds, of which the financial covenants include a minimum equity ratio on consolidated 
group level. The Group also holds a credit facility with a requirement to minimum book value of equity, 
LTV and minimum liquidity.

Further, Industrial Real Estate has several loans with associated covenants. The financial covenants 
include LTV and minimum cash requirements. For some of the loans, the Industrial Real Estate Group 
functions as a guarantor.

In addition, two of the subsidiaries in the Bulk Infrastructure Digital segment have loan facilities with 
various financial covenants, which include debt service coverage ratio, minimum equity ratio and 
leverage ratio. 

The financial covenants are monitored by management continuously. The majority of the covenants 
are reported on a quarterly basis to the Board and the relevant bank. No financial covenants were in 
breach during the year. 

PAGE 46 BROWSE SEARCH

Letter from CEO and chairman

Group presentation

Bulk Infrastructure Digital

Bulk Industrial Real Estate

Board of Directors Report 2024

Consolidated financial  
statements

Parent company financial 
statements

Responsibility statement

Auditor’s report



 Annual Report 2024

BULK INFRASTRUCTURE GROUP AS / CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 29	 Interest-bearing debt

(Figures in NOK ´000) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Total interest-bearing debt, nominal value  6,112,254  5,136,810 
- of which hedged (fixed interest rate)  815,486  688,023 
Hedge Ratio1) 13 % 13 %

Average interest rate at floating rate, including margin (%) 8.7 % 8.5 %
Average remaining duration, borrowings (years) 2.6 2.5
Average remaining duration, hedging contracts (years) 4.9 years 5.6 years

Total interest-bearing debt, nominal value  6,112,254  5,136,810 
Amounts to be amortized: Capitalized transaction costs of borrowings 
and premium from tap issue

 10,301  -90,939 

Carrying amount of bond loans and borrowings  6,122,554  5,045,871 
Of which is classified as current (First year instalments of debt)  1,056,177   1,699,512 

1)	 The hedge ratio implies the degree of economic predictability. This is the percentage of debt which is hedged 
through interest rate swaps. The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

Maturity on long-term debt
31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Year 1  1,056,177  1,699,512 
Year 2  2,582,642  506,815 
Year 3-5  2,412,436  2,869,482 
After year 5  61,000  61,000 
Total  6,112,255  5,136,810 

The recognized carrying amount of the assets pledged as security for liabilities as per 31.12

2024 2023

Investment property and property, plant and equipment  6,986,993  5,172,769 
Total pledged assets  6,986,993  5,172,769 

Borrowings secured with pledged assets  3,612,254  2,951,810 

In addition to pledged investments property and property, plant and equipment, the Group has 
established priority pledge in the shares of subsidiaries, factoring and bank accounts.

Please refer to note 28 for further info regarding the Groups covenants.

Bond loan
The Group completed in June 2024 a tap issue of NOK 750 million in its outstanding senior unsecured 
green bond issue due 15 September 2026 with ticker “BISG02 ESG” (ISIN: NO0012701269). The 
total amount outstanding was increased to NOK 1,250 million. The tap issue was priced at 105.5% of 
par. The net proceeds from the tap issue will be applied for use in accordance with the Green Finance 
Framework, including refinancing of existing debt related to green projects.

As of year-end 2024 the Group has two bond loans listed on Oslo Stock exchange. Information about 
these bonds are as follows:

Specification 
Bulk Infrastructure Group AS 22/26 
FRN

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS 23/28 
FRN

ISIN NO0012701269 NO0013013219
Maturity date 15.09.2026 21.03.2028
Amount NOK 1,250,000,000 NOK 1,250,000,000
Coupon Nibor 3m + 6.5% Nibor 3m + 5.75%
Coupon type FRN FRN
Coupon frequency Quarterly Quarterly
Trustee Nordic Trustee AS Nordic Trustee AS
Financial covenants Equity ratio > 35%. Equity ratio > 35%.
Security Unsecured Unsecured
Listing 1 September, 2023 13 October, 2023.
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Note 32	 Subsequent events after the reporting period

There are no material subsequent events after the reporting period.

Note 30 	Reconciliation of net debt

Reconciliation of net debt

(Figures in NOK ´000)
Cash and cash 

equivalents Borrowings Leases Total

Net debt as at January 1, 2024 1,026,391 -5,045,871 -63,062 -4,082,541

Cash flows
Net cash flow from operations  148,499  -  -  148,499 
Net cash flow from investing  -2,387,788  -  -  -2,387,788 
Net cash flow from financing  4,704,182  -  -  4,704,182 
Repayment of borrowings  -  1,347,487  -  1,347,487 
Proceeds from borrowings, net of 
transaction expenses  -  -2,506,883  -  -2,506,883 

Purchase of own shares in bond  -  100,000  -  100,000 
Amortization of transactions 
expenses and premiums  -  -4,088  -  -4,088 

New leases  -  -  -2,542  -2,542 
Installment on lease liabilities  -  -  10,232  10,232 
Adjustment to lease liability  -  -8,335  -8,335 
Foreign exchange movement  11,466  -13,201  -  -1,736 
Net debt as at December 31, 2024 3,502,749 -6,122,555 -63,707 -2,683,513

Note 31 	Accruals and prepayments from customers

(Figures in NOK ´000) 31.12.2024 31.12.2023

Prepayments from customer - long-term 84,617 50,292
Prepayments from customer - short-term 66,311 2,647
Accrued salaries, public duties 55,972 42,444
Accrued expenses 125,404 107,223
Total 332,303 202,606

Prepayments from customers primarily consist of prepaid fiber revenue related to IRU agreements in 
the Bulk Infrastructure Digital segment. The Group delivers dark fiber on fiber networks. The IRUs has 
an average lifetime of 20 years, of which the revenue related to the next year is classified as short-
term. Refer note 2 for additional information.
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Income Statement

(Figures in NOK ´000) Note 2024 2023

Sales revenue 1 31,568 47,018
Rental income 2,392 2,302
Other income 1 3,315 1,451
Total income 37,275 50,771

Raw materials and consumables used 133 8
Employee benefits expense 2 77,362 58,627
Depreciation of tangible and intangible fixed assets 3 1,577 1,971
Other expenses 1,2 46,924 26,219
Total expenses 125,996 86,825

Operating profit/loss -88,721 -36,054

Financial income and expenses
Interest income from group companies 4 420,369 238,762
Other interest income 74,482 6,392
Other financial income 1,364 42
Writ-down of other financial fixed assets 5 - -218,396
Interest expense to group companies 4 58 15,503
Other interest expenses 6 262,941 166,905
Other financial expenses 14,955 8,919
Net financial items 218,261 272,265

Result before tax 129,540 236,211

Tax expense 7 28,829 3,933

Result for the year 100,711 232,278

Allocation of result for the year
Other equity 8 100,711 232,278
Total brought forward 100,711 232,278
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Oslo, March 27, 2025 

Peder Nærbø
Executive Chair
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Balance sheet

(Figures in NOK ´000) Note 2024 2023

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Licenses, patents etc. 3 1,587 1,358
Deferred tax assets 7 2,662 31,088
Total intangible assets 4,249 32,446

Property, plant and equipment
Land, buildings and other real estate 3 9,215 8,764
Equipment, fixtures and fittings and other movables 3 431 679
Total property, plant and equipment 9,646 9,443

Non-current financial assets
Investments in subsidiaries 1, 5 2,198,981 2,197,551
Loan to group companies 4 1,021,818 31,935
Investments in shares and other securities 10,000 2,672
Other long-term receivables 2 4,596 2,895
Total non-current financial assets 3,235,395 2,235,053

Total non-current assets 3,249,290 2,276,942

CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables
Accounts receivables 69 861
Other short-term receivables 6,634 7,788
Receivables from group companies 4 4,805,223 3,358,019
Total receivables 4,811,926 3,366,667

Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents
Bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 9 2,676,677 743,457
Total bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents 2,676,677 743,457

Total current assets 7,488,602 4,110,124

Total assets 10,737,892 6,387,066

(Figures in NOK ´000) Note 2024 2023

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Paid in equity
Share capital 8, 10 5,060 3,726
Share premium reserve 8 7,850,112 3,841,445
Total paid-up equity 7,855,172 3,845,172

Retained earnings
Other equity 8 287,408 160,734
Total retained earnings 287,408 160,734

Total equity 8,142,579 4,005,906

Non-current liabilities
Other provisions 49,416 49,416
Bonds 6 2,510,301 2,287,463
Liabilities to financial institutions 4 - 5,654
Total non-current liabilities 2,559,717 2,342,533

Current liabilities
Trade payables 5,294 6,509
Public duties payable 2,469 2,228
Liabilities to group companies 1,833 -
Other current liabilities 6 26,000 29,890
Total current liabilities 35,596 38,628

Total liabilities 2,595,313 2,381,160

Total equity and liabilities 10,737,892 6,387,066
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Cash flow statement

(Figures in NOK ´000) Note 2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/loss before tax 129,540 236,211
Loss/gain on the sale of fixed assets -1,670 -
Ordinary depreciation 3 1,577 1,971
Impairment of Investments 5 - -218,396
Change in accounts receivable 792 -844
Change in accounts payable -1,215 -1,458
Share-based payments 25,963 -
Change in other accrual items -4,149 -9,749
Net cash flows from operating activities 150,838 7,735

Cash flows from investment activities
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets 1,670 -
Payments to buy tangible assets 3 2,058 1,884
Payments to buy other investments 6 7,328 -
Net cash flows from investment activities -7,716 -1,884

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issuance of new long-term liabilities 6 787,838 826,015
Repayment of long-term liabilities 570,654 -
Net change in accrued items related to group cash pool -1,447,204 -1,061,235
Proceeds from equity 8 4,010,001 939,859
Change in receivable/payable related party 4 -989,883 -3,696
Net cash flows from financing activities 1,790,099 700,943

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 1,933,220 706,794
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 743,457 36,663
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2,676,677 743,457
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Accounting principles
The financial statements are presented in accordance with relevant Norwegian laws and generally 
accepted accounting principles for other enterprises. The principles are outlined below and have been 
consistently applied to all periods presented, unless otherwise is stated.

Current assets and liabilities
Balances that fall due within a year are classified as current assets and liabilities. The value of current 
assets is presented as the lower historical cost and fair value.

Bond loan
The bond is measured by amortized cost according to the Norwegian Accounting Act chapter 5. 
Amortized cost calculated by effective interest rate is accepted in the standard assessment guidelines. 
The amortized cost of an asset is comprised by original cost, minus transactions between the parties (eg. 
payments, interest and fees), plus effective interest. An impairment would decrease the calculated value.

Intangible assets
Expenditure on own research is expensed as and when incurred. Expenditure on Development is 
capitalised providing a future financial benefit relating to the development of an identifiable intangible 
asset can be identified and the expenses can be measured reliably. Otherwise, such expenditure is 
expensed as and when incurred. Capitalised development costs are amortised linearly over the asset’s 
expected useful life.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are assets held for long-term ownership and use. PPE are valued 
at historical cost less subsequent depreciation and impairments. Historical cost includes expenditure 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Depreciation is calculated based on estimated useful lives for the assets. Impairments occur when 
historical cost exceeds long-term fair value. Previous impairments may be reversed if there are 
significant changes in value.

Investments in other companies
The cost method is applied to investments in subsidiaries and associated companies. Cost may vary 
with capital contributions. Investments are subject to impairments if permanent fair value is lower than 
cost. Previous impairments may be reversed if there are significant changes in value.

Dividends are classified as financial income. Capital contributions from previous ownership are 
classified as return of capital and will reduce historic cost.

The management in the Group owns shares in the group through Klub Bulk AS. IFRS 2 Share-Base 
Payments applies to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the group.

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. 
Monetary foreign currency items are translated to NOK at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. 
Non- monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to NOK 
using the exchange rate on the transaction date. Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 
a foreign currency are translated to NOK using the exchange rate on the measurement date. Exchange 
rate fluctuations are posted to the profit and loss account as they arise under other financial items.

Revenues
Income from the sale of goods is recognised on the date of delivery. Services are posted as income 
as they are delivered. Income from the sale of services and long-term manufacturing projects 
(construction contracts) are posted to the profit and loss account in line with the project’s degree of 
completion, when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated in a reliable manner. When the 
transaction’s outcome cannot be estimated reliably, only income corresponding to a projects’ incurred 
costs can be posted as revenue. At the time when it is identified that the project will give a negative 
result, the estimated loss on the contract is posted in full to the profit and loss account.

Costs
Costs are expensed in the same period as the associated income. When there is no clear connection 
between costs and associated income, costs are expensed in the period they are incurred.

Receivables
Receivables are recognized at fair value. A provision for impairment is established when objective 
evidence exists that the company will be unable to collect the entire amount due in accordance with 
the original terms of each receivable.

Tax
The tax charge in the income statement includes both payable taxes for the period and changes in 
deferred tax. Deferred tax is calculated at 22 % on the basis of the temporary differences that exist 
between accounting and tax values, as well as any possible taxable loss carried forwards at the end of 
the accounting year. Tax enhancing or tax reducing temporary differences, which are reversed or may 
be reversed in the same period, have been eliminated.

Cash Flow statement
The cash flow statement has been prepared according to the indirect method. Cash and cash 
equivalents include cash, bank deposits, and other short-term investments which immediately and 
with minimal exchange risk can be converted into known cash amounts, with due date less than three 
months from purchase date.

Changes in accounting principles
There were no changes in the accounting principles applied by the company in 2024.

Consolidated financial statements
Bulk Infrastructure Group AS is included in the consolidated financial statements of Bulk Infrastructure 
Holding AS and Bulk Industrier AS. The consolidated financial statements are available at  
www.bulkinfrastructure.com.
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Note 1	 Transactions with related parties

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS provide services in accounting and administration to related companies 
and companies in the group. The services are priced according to current market conditions. In 2024, 
fees for accounting, administration and project management of TNOK 31,568 have been recognized 
as income. In addition TNOK 4,112 has been allocated as share of Group costs (recognised as cost 
reduction in Bulk Infrastructure Group AS).

Note 2	 Personnel expenses, number of employees, remuneration, 
loan to employees

Payroll expenses
(Figures in NOK ´000) 2024 2023

Salaries/wages 68,095 51,165
Social security fees 5,727 6,057
Pension expenses 725 690
Other remuneration 3,325 1,969
Allocated salaries to other group companies -510 -1,255
Total 77,362 58,627

Average number of employees during the financial year 21 20

Salaries and remunerations to executives1)

(Figures in NOK ´000) Executives Board Chairman

Salaries and bonuses 16,556 4,353
Pension obligations 264 45
Other remunerations 619 -
Total 17,439 4,398

1)	 The CEO and additional members of the board of Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS (the parent company) receives 
salaries and remunerations from Bulk Infrastructure Group.

Loan to employees
Other employees have loans in the company totaling TNOK 3 113 These loans are repaid within three 
years (due in 2025). The interest rate corresponds to the tax-free interest rate determined by the 
authorities.

OTP (Statutory occupational pension)
The company is required to have a pension scheme in accordance with the Norwegian law on required 
occupational pension (“lov om obligatorisk tjenestepensjon”). The company’s pension scheme meets 
the requirement of this law.

Expensed audit fee	
Expenses paid to the auditor for 2024 amounts to TNOK 1 612,- excl.VAT.
 
(Figures in NOK ´000)

Statutory audit fee 1,493
Tax advisory -
Other assistance 119
Total audit fees 1,612
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Note 3	 Fixed assets and intangible assets

(Figures in NOK ´000) Land

Buildings/
adjustments 

rented buildings
Moveables and 

machines
R&D and 
software Total

Purchase cost 01.01 5,076 10,537 13,539 3,275 32,427
Additions 1,200 62 796 2,058
Disposals - -50 -5,212 - -5,261
Purchase cost 31.12 5,076 11,687 8,390 4,071 29,223
Acc. depr. 31.12 - 7,548 7,959 2,484 17,991
Book value 31.12 5,076 4,139 431 1,587 11,232
Depr. this year 699 310 567 1,577

Not 
depreciated

10-15 years, 
linear

3-5 years, 
linear

5 years, linear/ 
not depreciated

Note 4 	 Debtors, liabilities, pledged assets and guarantees etc.

Long-term receivables with minimum maturity of 1 year.

Receivables due later than 1 year amounts to TNOK 1 021 818. 

Long-term debt with minimum maturity of 5 years.

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS does not have any debt with minimum maturity of 5 years.

Balances with group companies
(Figures in NOK ´000) 2024 2023

Long-term claims on group companies 1,021,818 31,935
Accounts receivable from group companies 1,247 2,058
Claims on group companies / group contributions 4,803,975 3,355,960
Short-term debt to group companies -1,833 -
Total 5,825,208 3,389,953

Other debt have priority over debt to group companies. Balances with group companies are charged 
with an interest rate equal to NOWA 3M + 4% p.a.

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS is the owner of a group cash pool. Of the company’s short term claims on 
group companies TNOK 4 802 142 are claims regarding the cash pool.

Note 5 	 Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are booked according to the cost method.

Company

(Figures in NOK ‘000)
Ownership/ 

voting rights Cost price
Write-down/ 

Reclassification Book value

Bulk Industrial Real Estate AS 100% 499,478 - 499,478
Bulk Data Centers AS 100% 934,822 - 934,822
Bulk Fiber Networks AS 100% 764,682 - 764,682
Bulk Powered Land AS 100% - - -
Sum 2,198,981 - 2,198,981

The companies are based in Oslo, Norway.

Company

(Figures in NOK ‘000) Book value
P/L for 2024 

(100%)
Equity pr. 

31.12 (100%)

Bulk Industrial Real Estate AS 499,478 156,506 504,330
Bulk Data Centers AS 934,822 -77,688 585,637
Bulk Fiber Networks AS 764,682 6,265 728,989
Bulk Powered Land AS - -5,527 -6,257
Sum 2,198,981 79,557 1,812,698
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Note 6	  Bond loan

Bulk Infrastructure Group AS issued a senior unsecured green bond of NOK 500 million on 9 
September 2022 and completed a bond tap issue of NOK 750 million on 18 June 2024. The unsecured 
bond NO0010865876 was settled 1 July 2024. Bulk Infrastructure Group AS issued another green 
bond of NOK 1250 million on 21 March 2023. Both bonds was listed 2nd half of 2023 according to 
the table below. The net proceeds from the bonds will be utilized in accordance with the green bond 
framework.

Specification Bond 2022/2026 Bond 2023/2028

ISIN NO0012701269 NO0013013219
Maturity date 15.09.2026 21.03.2028
Amount NOK 1.250.000.000 NOK 1,250,000,000
Coupon Nibor 3m + 6.5% Nibor 3m + 5.75% 
Coupon type FRN FRN
Coupon Frequency Quarterly Quarterly
Trustee Nordic Trustee AS Nordic Trustee AS
Financial Covenants Equity ratio > 35% Equity ratio > 35%
Security Unsecured Unsecured

Listed 1 September 2023 13 October 2023

Note 7 	 Tax

(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023

Entered tax on ordinary profit/loss
Payable tax 403 -
Changes in deferred tax assets 28,426 3,933
Tax expense on ordinary profit/loss 28,829 3,933

Taxable income
Ordinary result before tax 129,540 236,211
Permanent differences 752 -218,335
Changes in temporary differences 2,028 -4,380
Received intra-group contribution - 370
Provided intra-group contribution -1,083 -
Allocation of loss to be brought forward -131,236 -13,866
Taxable income - -

Payable tax in the balance
Payable tax on this year's result 403 -81
Payable tax on provided Group contribution -403 -
Payable tax on received Group contribution - 81
Total payable tax in the balance - -

The tax effect of temporary differences that has formed the basis for deferred tax and deferred tax 
advantages, specified on type of temporary differences.

(Figures in NOK ‘000) 2024 2023 Difference

Tangible assets -467 -3,183 -2,717
Accounts receivable -1,495 - 1,495
Allocations and more -10,137 -6,888 3,249
Total -12,099 -10,071 2,028

Accumulated loss to be brought forward - -131,236 -131,236
Basis for deferred tax assets -12,099 -141,308 -129,209

Deferred tax assets (22%) -2,662 -31,088 -28,426
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Note 8	 Equity

(Figures in NOK ‘000)
Share 
capital

Share 
premium 
reserve

Other paid  
in capital

Retained 
earnings Total equity

Equity 01.01 3,726 3,841,445 35,045 125,689 4,005,906
Share capital increase 1,334 4,008,666 - - 4,010,000
Other adjustments1) - - 25,963 - 25,963
Annual net profit/loss - - - 100,711 100,711
Equity 31.12 5,060 7,850,112 61,008 226,400 8,142,579

1)	 Other adjustments consist of effects from Share-Based Payments for Group Management employed in Bulk 
Infrastructure Group AS, covered by Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS and recognised as equity in Bulk Infrastructure 
Group AS.

Note 9	 Restricted funds

Funds of TNOK 2,550 restricted to employees taxes are included in bank deposits, cash and cash 
equivalents in the balance sheet.

Note 10	 Share capital and shareholder information

Share capital Number Nominal value
Book value

1 = NOK 1000

Ordinary shares 505,996,842 0,0100 5,060

Shareholders Country Number shares Share of capital %

Bulk Infrastructure Holding AS Norway 505,996,842 100% 

Board Chairman, Peder Nærbø, has an indirect ownership of 15,6% in Bulk Infrastructure Group AS.
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The annual report for the Group and the parent company is in 
compliance with the Accounting Act. To the best of our knowledge, 
we confirm that;

•	 The 2024 financial statements for the Group and the parent 
company are prepared in accordance with applicable 
accounting standards

•	 The provided information in the financial statements gives 
a true and fair view of the Group and the parent company’s 
assets, liabilities, financial position and results of operations as 
of December 31, 2024

•	 The Board of Directors report provides the Group and the 
parent company a fair view of
	∙ development, performance and position of the Group and 

the parent company
	∙ the most important risks and uncertainties the Group and 

the parent company faces

Responsibility statement by the Board of Directors – Bulk Infrastructure Group AS

The Board of Directors have today treated and approved the 
annual report and financial statements for Bulk Infrastructure 
Group AS (the parent company) and the Group, the consolidated 
accounts, as of December 31, 2024. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the EU-
approved IFRS standards and interpretations, together with the 
additional disclosure requirements in the Norwegian Accounting 
Act to be applied as of December 31, 2024. The financial 
statements for the parent company are prepared in accordance 
with relevant Norwegian laws and generally accepted accounting 
principles in Norway as of December 31, 2024.

Oslo, March 27, 2025 
The board of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS

Peder Nærbø
Executive Chair
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To the General Meeting of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS, which comprise: 

 The financial statements of the parent company Bulk Infrastructure Group AS (the Company), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, the income statement, cash flow statement for the 
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information. 

 The consolidated financial statements of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2024, statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information. 

  

In our opinion 

 the financial statements comply with applicable statutory requirements, 
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 

December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in Norway, 
and 

 the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2024, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU. 

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the Audit Committee.  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group as required by relevant laws and 
regulations in Norway and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited non-audit services referred to in the Audit Regulation 
(537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided. 

We have been the auditor of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS for 3 years from the election by the general meeting of 
the shareholders on 23 September 2022 for the accounting year 2022. 
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Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of 2024. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

DDeessccrriippttiioonn  ooff  tthhee  KKeeyy  AAuuddiitt  MMaatttteerr HHooww  tthhee  mmaatttteerr  wwaass  aaddddrreesssseedd  iinn  tthhee  aauuddiitt 

Investment property represents a 
substantial portion of the group’s total 
assets. Investment property is recognised 
at fair value. Fair value is estimated by 
management with assistance from third 
party valuers. 
  
The fair value is based on assumptions 
and estimates as well as property specific 
information like future leasing payments, 
vacancies, and discount rate. These 
assumptions and estimates require 
significant judgment and therefore 
valuation of investment property is a key 
audit matter. We refer to note 3 
“Accounting estimates and significant 
judgments” for further information.  

The Group has established internal control to ensure 
relevant property information is included in the external 
valuations. We have assessed the design and implementation 
of the control. 
  
For a sample of the investment properties, we have 
reconciled the property information regarding annual rent 
and square meters in the third party valuers’ report to the 
Group`s own records. 
  
We have met with the third party valuers’ and discussed and 
challenged their judgements used in the valuation of 
investment properties, particularly those concerning market 
rent, yield and discount rate. 
  
We have assessed the third party valuers’ qualifications and 
expertise and reviewed their terms of engagement in order 
to determine whether there were any matters that might 
have affected their objectivity. We have assessed the 
valuation methods used against generally accepted valuation 
standards and practices.  
  
In carrying out the procedures related to valuation of 
investment property, we have used our internal valuation 
specialists.  
  
We have assessed whether the disclosures in note 10 
regarding valuation of investment properties were adequate.   

  

Other Information 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (management) are responsible for the information in the Board of 
Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The other information comprises 
information in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the information in the Board of Directors’ report nor the other 
information accompanying the financial statements. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Board of Directors’ report 
and the other information accompanying the financial statements. The purpose is to consider if there is material 
inconsistency between the Board of Directors’ report and the other information accompanying the financial 
statements and the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or whether the Board of Directors’ 
report and the other information accompanying the financial statements otherwise appear to be materially 
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misstated. We are required to report if there is a material misstatement in the Board of Directors’ report or the 
other information accompanying the financial statements. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

  

 

Based on our knowledge obtained in the audit, it is our opinion that the Board of Directors’ report 

 is consistent with the financial statements and 
 contains the information required by applicable statutory requirements. 

Our opinion on the Board of Directors’ report applies correspondingly to the statements on Corporate Governance 
and Corporate Social Responsibility.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Company that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices generally accepted in 
Norway, and for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of the Group that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU. Management is responsible for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the Group's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. The financial 
statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar as it is not likely that the enterprise 
will cease operations. The financial statements of the Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s and the Group's internal control. 

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

 conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
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related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves a true and fair view. 

 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.  

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 
Report on Compliance with Requirement on European Single Electronic Format (ESEF) 
Opinion 
 As part of the audit of the financial statements of Bulk Infrastructure Group AS, we have performed an assurance 
engagement to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements included in the annual report, 
with the file name “Bulk Infrastructure Group AS Annual Report 2024.zip”, have been prepared, in all material 
respects, in compliance with the requirements of the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 on the 
European Single Electronic Format (ESEF Regulation) and regulation pursuant to Section 5-5 of the Norwegian 
Securities Trading Act, which includes requirements related to the preparation of the annual report in XHTML format 
and iXBRL tagging of the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the financial statements, included in the annual report, have been prepared, in all material respects, 
in compliance with the ESEF regulation. 

Management’s Responsibilities 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the annual report in compliance with the ESEF regulation. This 
responsibility comprises an adequate process and such internal control as management determines is necessary. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
Our responsibility, based on audit evidence obtained, is to express an opinion on whether, in all material respects, 
the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared in compliance with ESEF. We conduct our 
work in compliance with the International Standard for Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 – “Assurance 
engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial information”. The standard requires us to plan and 
perform procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements included in the annual 
report have been prepared in compliance with the ESEF Regulation. 

As part of our work, we have performed procedures to obtain an understanding of the Company’s processes for 
preparing the financial statements in compliance with the ESEF Regulation. We examine whether the financial 
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statements are presented in XHTML-format. We evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the iXBRL tagging of the 
consolidated financial statements and assess management’s use of judgement. Our procedures include reconciliation 
of the iXBRL tagged data with the audited financial statements in human-readable format. We believe that the 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Oslo, 27 March 2025 
Deloitte AS 

EEiivviinndd  UUnnggeerrssnneessss 
State Authorised Public Accountant 

(This document is signed electronically)  
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